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Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd was established in 1968 as a producer 

of plain packaging boxes. The Company has grown and diversified into a 

global player providing both print related services such as printing and 

packaging solutions, software turnkey manufacturing, and non-print 

related services including reverse logistics and service parts logistics. 

Teckwah offers highly customised, comprehensive business solutions to 

meet the unique needs of individual customers and serve them through its 

network of 55 locations across 12 countries. 

Teckwah was listed on SESDAQ in 1994 and subsequently upgraded to 

the Mainboard of Singapore Exchange in May 2003. 

In its pursuit for business excellence, Teckwah was conferred the Singapore 

Quality Award by SPRING Singapore in 2006. It is the pinnacle award 

presented to organisations with outstanding business management 

capabilities.

For more information on Teckwah please visit our website

www.teckwah.com.sg

About teckwAh IndustrIAl corporAtIon ltd
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REviEw
By continually reviewing and 
evaluating our organisational 
competencies, we ensure that 
our systems and our people 
remain relevant. 

REviEw

pREpaRE
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REviEw
A successful business must be 
nimble and flexible to respond 
to rapidly changing needs and 
challenges. Therefore, while we 
prepare our organisation for 
growth, it will also have the ability 
to go back to basics. A business 
that is prepared has sustainability 
and continuity. 

pREpaRE
pREpaRE
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“change is the process by which the 
future invades our lives.” 
alvin toffler (1928 - ) ~ introduction to Future shock, 1970

change creates new opportunities 
and spurs the development of new 
knowledge and skills. By embracing 
change, we are able to continually 
improve and upgrade ourselves.

changEchangE

EnhancE
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changEchangE

By anticipating market demands, 
we remain relevant. By enhancing 
competencies, we remain competitive. 
Two simple philosophies - the essentials 
of business success and continuity. 

EnhancEEnhancE
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upgRadE

REvitaliSE

upgRadE

Upgrading the quality of our 
people and our systems are 
ongoing investments benefiting 
both our organisation and our 
people.  
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Revitalisation is essential. 
it provides us with new 
perspectives and refreshes our 
minds. New perspectives enable 
us to anticipate and understand 
new demands and find solutions 
to meet new needs. 

upgRadE

REvitaliSE

REvitaliSE
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The art of management lies in the ability to balance. 

Reviewing, preparing, changing, enhancing, 

upgrading and revitalising are ongoing processes 

that will yield effective results when their 

implementations are optimally balanced. Well 

balanced resources will help an organisation realise 

its full potentials. 

BALANCE

bAlAnce

Teck Wah AR2008 Option 1A Rev 1
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BALANCE



Thomas Chua 
Chairman and Managing Director
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“Today, we have $28.1 million in cash and our 
operating activities generated positive cash inflows 
(before working capital changes) amounting to $12.0 
million. Our strong internal resources have given us 
the ability to be self-reliant.”

chAIrmAn’s messAge

Dear Shareholders, 

after decades of economic growth and development, the global economic and financial systems 
have finally relented to the effects of decades of bludgeoning toxic assets accumulation. the 
events in 2008 clearly indicate that the world has to readjust and balance itself before it can 
embark onto the next wave of growth. 

the global meltdown that we are witnessing now are rapidly bringing us back to basics, reminding 
us of the fundamental business philosophies preached by our forefathers - cash is reality and a 
strong balance sheet is the foundation of a well-managed ongoing business entity.

the YeAr In restrospect 

at teckwah, despite four decades of growth, we have remained a relatively conservative 
organisation. as at 31 december 2008, we have $28.1 million in cash and our operating activities 
generated positive cash inflows (before working capital changes) amounting to $12.0 million in 
FY2008. Our strong internal resources have given us the ability to be self-reliant. this fact is further 
endorsed by our low gearing of 0.02 times at the close of FY2008. as such, the current credit 
crunch will have little impact on our group. 

nonetheless, our business bore the impact of the global economic slowdown. compared to the 
previous financial year, our revenue growth remained relatively flat in FY2008. unfortunately, our 
net profit after tax reported a 46.1% decline, decreasing from $7.8 million in FY2007 to $4.2 
million in FY2008 due primarily to higher raw material costs, transportation costs and utilities 
charges incurred during the year. additionally, we also had to bear an impairment charge on the 
goodwill for our australian operations, whose performance has been below expectations. 

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
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“On our part, we have taken steps to reduce management’s 
salaries and freeze staff’s wages for 2009. Simultaneously, we 
will continue to look for ways to improve our operating and cost 
efficiencies. In the new financial year, we will benefit from the 
economic stimulus package from the Singapore government, 
including the job credit scheme. ”

having expressed the above, all are not lost. corresponding to trends in previous years, our performance 
in the second half of the year was relatively stronger than the first half. we were also encouraged by the 
performance of our flexible packaging business in china, which caters largely to the food and beverage 
industry that is in turn fuelled by the country’s domestic demand. in addition, we have successfully 
secured new customers and formed strategic partnership for our spares and reverse logistics business.

leading the revenue contribution to the group this year is our print-related business, whose contribution 
augmented the slightly weaker performance of our non-print business. geographically, Singapore 
continues to dominate as the main revenue generator as well as profit contributor, followed by china, 
which is a growing market for our business. 

outlook For the new FInAncIAl YeAr 

the financial and economic crisis, which started towards the third quarter of 2008 has spread to all 
other countries around the world. Business and consumer confidence are at an all time low. growing 
unemployment is putting pressure on governments who are reacting rapidly to support the weakening 
economic and social fabric in their respective countries. 

On our part, we have taken steps to reduce management’s salaries and freeze staff’s wages for 2009. 
Simultaneously, we will continue to look for ways to improve our operating and cost efficiencies. in the 
new financial year, we will benefit from the economic stimulus package from the Singapore government, 
including the job credit scheme. 

as the business environment becomes increasingly difficult, the group expects weakening demand 
from global it companies, whose customers across the world are expected to cut it expenditures. On a 
positive note, we will be taking this opportunity to focus and invest in employee training across all levels. 

On the business front, we are continually searching for new areas of competencies that can enhance our 
current operations. at the same time, we are constantly on the lookout for strategic alliances or business 
acquisitions that are complementary to our business. we expect that these opportunities may emerge as 
the global economic consolidation continues into the rest of this year. 

at teckwah, we strongly believe that by complementing a strong and efficient system with a quality 
workforce, we will be able to bring to reality, our strategy to orientate ourselves into a service-focused 

Teck Wah AR2008 Option 1A Rev 1
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organisation. in summary, we are preparing ourselves for 
future growth. when the world economy steers itself on 
its new growth path, organisations have to be ready to 
anticipate new demands that will arise from new business 
needs. 

in closing, i would like to take this opportunity to thank 
all our customers and business associates for their support 
during the year. to our shareholders, the market has been 
difficult and we appreciate your trust in teckwah despite 
these challenging times. to all my colleagues, thank you for 
your dedication and sacrifices this year. the road ahead will 
be difficult but we shall take it in our stride and treat it as a 
test to our overall resilience. with the support of everyone, 
i am confident that we will overcome the challenges from 
these turbulent times and emerge a revitalised organisation, 
ready for the new opportunities that lie ahead of us. 

For the financial year ended 31 december 2008, the Board 
recommends a final one-tier tax-exempt dividend of 0.8 cents 
per share, subject to the approval of the shareholders at the 
forthcoming annual general Meeting. 

thomas chua 
Chairman & Managing Director 
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the group’s performance in FY2008 bore the impact of the 
global economic slowdown. while our core print-related 
business reported a marginal 1.4% increase in revenue, we 
saw relatively weaker revenue contribution from our non-print 
business compared to the previous financial year.  

the group’s revenue amounted to $158.0 million compared to 
$158.1 million. Revenue from the print-related operations rose 
marginally from $129.2 million to $131.1 million. incorporated 
in this performance is the impact arising from the cessation of 
a major value chain project in china. Offsetting the latter was 
the growth in our flexible packaging business in china and the 
increase in the value chain business in Singapore.  

Our non-print business saw a revenue drop of 6.8% as revenue 
decreased from $28.6 million in FY2007 to $26.7 million this 
year. the performance of our non-print business was affected 
by the cessation of two projects during the year. One of them 
is the cessation of a project in third party logistics and the other 
is in our reverse logistics activity. the new projects subsequently 
secured only commenced operations in the final quarter of the 
year and hence were insufficient to buffer the revenue loss from 
the two projects lost earlier in the year.  

By business segment, our print-related business continues to 
lead the overall performance of the group, accounting for 
83% of our total revenue. the balance comprises the 17% 
contribution from non-print business. geographically, our 
Singapore operations, which account for 55.5% of our revenue, 
continue to dominate as our major revenue contributor. this is 
followed by china, whose revenue accounts for 26.0% of the 
group’s total revenue in FY2008.  

On the operations front, we incurred $39.6 million in other 
operating expenses in FY2008. compared to the previous year, 
the higher operating expenses is largely due to the full year 
rental of the group’s additional floor space in tic tech centre 
building.  

operAtIons reVIew
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“On the operations front, we incurred $39.6 million in 
other operating expenses in FY2008. Compared to the 
previous year, the higher operating expenses is largely due 
to the full year rental of the Group’s additional floor space 
in TIC Tech Centre building.”

Reflecting our lower revenues in FY2008, net profit after tax was also lower as both print-related 
and non-print businesses saw lower margins and reduced activities. For the financial year ended 
31 december 2008, the group’s net profit after tax declined from $7.8 million in FY2007 to $4.2 
million, representing a decrease of 46.1%. affecting the group’s profitability in FY2008 were 
the higher raw material cost, transportation cost and utilities charges. Furthermore, with our 
australian operation performing below expectation, we decided to take an additional impairment 
charge of $1.1 million on the goodwill for the australian operation. adding to this list is the 
foreign exchange loss of $0.5 million arising from the volatile exchange rates during the year.  

the group’s strategy to strengthen our balance sheet a few years ago has put us in good stead, 
especially with the credit crunch. at the close of FY2008, the group has an excess of $28.1 million 
in cash with minimal bank borrowings as evidenced by its gearing of 0.02 times. additionally, the 
group’s operations, before working capital changes, generated positive cash flow of $12.0 million.  

the year also saw a reduction in the group’s inventory, which decreased from $17.8 million to 
$14.9 million. trade receivables, registering marginal increase, rose from $30.4 million to $30.9 
million. On the other hand, trade payables decreased from $14.6 million to $13.2 million. the 
group’s healthy balance sheet will not only hedge the impact of the credit crunch, but it will also 
enable teckwah to enter into strategic alliances and undertake business acquisitions when these 
opportunities emerge. Furthermore, valuations may reach realistic levels as the global financial and 
economic crisis deepens into the rest of 2009.  

Responding to the looming global financial and economic crisis, and as a matter of prudence, 
management undertook measures to review operations in an effort to contain its costs. 
Management’s salaries were reduced and staff’s salaries frozen for the year. the benefits of 
this exercise are further enhanced by the economic stimulus from the Singapore government, 
including the job credit, which will help in the group’s cost reduction efforts.  

into the new financial year, the group expects that the global business landscape will be difficult. 
it will make use of this opportunity to train and upgrade the skills and knowledge of its employees 
and adopt measures that will improve its cost efficiencies. these measures will support its strategy 
to turn teckwah into a service-focused business ready to serve the needs of customers around the 
world.  
 

operAtIons reVIew
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亲爱的股东， 

历经数十年的持续经济增长与发展，全球的经济与金融体系终于因为长年累月急
速累积的不良资产，而受到重创。2008年发生的重大事件提醒我们，全球经济必
须经历重新调整和平衡，才能进入下一个增长阶段。

全球金融风暴让我们重新认识到基本的商业定律，让我们想起先辈们的生意经 —
掌握现金最现实，而且管理妥当的生意必须拥有强劲的资产负债表。

一年回顾 

德华工业虽然取得40年的增长，我们一直是相对保守的机构。截至2008年12月31
日，集团的现金余额约为2810万元，而2008财政年的业务，在计算营运资金变动
之前，创造了1200万元的现金流。集团拥有充足的资源，使我们能自力更生。集
团向银行借贷的款额少，运作的本债比维持在非常低的0.02倍水平。因此，目前
的信贷危机对集团的影响不大。

尽管如此，全球经济放缓冲击我们的业务。与上一个财政年比较，集团的收入保
持不变。不过，集团的税后净利从2007财政年的780万减少到420万元，下跌了
46.1%。原料成本上升，运输费和水电费增加都影响了集团的利润。此外，澳洲业
务表现比预期差，我们必须拨出一笔商誉减值准备金，也对集团盈利造成冲击。

尽管如此，黯淡的市场环境仍有一线曙光。与往年的趋势一样，集团下半年的表
现比上半年强劲。中国的软包装业务，以食品与饮料工业为主要服务对象，因为
受到中国国内需求的推动，取得令人鼓舞的表现。此外，集团争取到新的客户，
并且在零配件和逆向物流业务成立战略联盟。

集团主席致辞

“集团的现金余额约为2810万元，而2008财政年的业务，

在计算营运资金变动之前，创造了1200万元的现金流。集

团拥有充足的资源，使我们能自力更生。集团向银行借贷

的款额少，运作的本债比维持在非常低的0.02倍水平。因

此，目前的信贷危机对集团的影响不大。”
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印刷业务仍然是集团最主要的收入来源，缓和了非印刷业务收入减少带来的冲击。在个别区域
的业务方面，新加坡继续成为集团营收和利润的主要来源，其次是中国。集团的中国业务取得
强劲增长。

新财政年度展望 

2008年第三季开始的全球金融与经济危机已经蔓延到世界各国。商业与消费者信心坠入谷底。失
业率急速上升迫使政府做出迅速反应，以维护经济和社会结构。 

集团已经削减了管理层的薪金，冻结员工薪水。集团继续寻求各项措施以改善运作，从而控制成
本。新加坡政府刺激经济援助配套，包括雇用补贴计划，将使集团在来临财政年度受益。

由于商业环境日益严峻，而随着世界各地的企业削减资讯科技开支，集团预料全球资讯科技公司的
需求量将减少。尽管如此，集团将把握这个时机，改善和提升人力资本素质。

在业务方面，集团不断寻找加强业务的新领域。与此同时，我们不断留意建立战略联盟和进行并购
的机会，以增强集团的实力。随着全球经济在接下来的一年内进行整顿，结盟和并购的机遇可能会
出现。

在德华工业，优秀的劳动队伍与强大和有效率的系统紧密配合。我们深信能将德华工业转型成以服
务为主导的企业。总而言之，我们为未来的增长做好准备。当世界经济迈向新的增长道路，企业必
须准备就绪，迎接新的商业环境所带来的挑战。

我希望借此机会向所有的顾客和商业伙伴给予的支持表达由衷的感激。我也要感谢股东，在这个艰
难时期，继续信任德华工业。我也感谢同事们的献身精神，以及这一年来做出的牺牲。前方的道路
虽然崎岖，但我们将从容不迫，把它当成一次考验。有了大家的支持，我有信心我们能排除万难，
更加充满活力，准备迎接新的挑战。

董事会建议在截至2008年12月31日的财政年，派发每股0.8分的年终免税（单层）股息。这有待在
来临的常年股东大会上批准。

蔡其生
集团主席兼董事经理

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E
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德华工业控股有限公司（简称”德华工业”或”集团”）在2008财政年的表现受
到全球经济放缓的冲击。虽然核心的印刷相关业务的营业额略微增长1.4%，但非
印刷业务的收入比上个财政年逊色。

集团在2008财政年取得1亿5800万元的营业额，与2007财政年的1亿5810万元相
距不远。印刷业务的收入从1亿2920万元增至1亿3110万元。集团终止一个在中国
进行的大型价值链项目，使印刷收入受到冲击。不过，中国的软包装业务和新加
坡的价值链业务取得强劲的增长，抵消了其负面影响。

在2008财政年，非印刷业务的收入从2007财政年的2860万元减少至2670万元，
下跌了6.8%。集团结束了两个物流项目，包括一个第三方物流项目和一个逆向物
流项目，影响了非印刷业务的表现。新的项目在本财政年的最后一个季度开始，
因此所取得的收入，不足以抵消较早前失去的两个项目所带来的收入损失。

印刷业务仍然是集团最主要的收入来源，占集团总收入的83%。其余17%的收入
来自非印刷业务。

在个别区域的业务方面，新加坡继续成为集团营收的主要来源，贡献集团总营收
的55.5%。紧跟在新加坡后面是中国，占总营收的26.0%。

集团在2008财政年的其他营运开销为3960万元。营业开支增加，主要是受集团额
外租用德华概念中心大厦楼面的全年租金影响。

由于印刷与非印刷业务的利润和生意额减少，集团在2008财政年的收入和税后净
利也随着下跌。截至2008年12月31日，集团的税后净利从2007财政年的780万减
少到420万元，下跌了46.1%。原料成本上升，运输费和水电费增加都影响了集团
的利润。集团为2008年度表现疲弱的澳洲业务额外拨出一笔最后的110万元商誉
减值准备金，也对集团盈利造成冲击。由于外汇市场出现大幅度波动，集团在本
财政年度蒙受了50万元的外汇兑换损失。

业务回顾

“集团在2008财政年的其他营运开销为3960万元。营业开支增加，

主要是受集团额外租用德华概念中心大厦楼面的全年租金影响。”

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E
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集团过去采取谨慎的策略，保持强劲的资产负债表，
使集团有能力应付当前的金融危机。2008财政年度结
束时，集团的现金余额约为2810万元 。集团向银行借
贷的款额少，运作的本债比维持在非常低的0.02倍水
平。在计算营运资金变动之前，业务营运创造了1200
万元的现金流。

集团的库存量在本财政年度从1780万元减少至1490万
元。应收账款从3040万元略微上升至3090万元。另一
方面，应付账款从1460万元减少至1320万元。由于集
团拥有健康的资产负债表，除了能抵御金融危机带来
的冲击，也能在机会出现时，进行策略的收购。

全球经济危机将在2009年持续恶化，集团会继续寻求
各项措施以改善运作，从而控制成本。集团已经削减
了管理层的薪金，冻结员工薪水。新加坡政府刺激经
济援助配套，包括雇用补贴计划，将使集团在来临财
政年度受益。

展望新的财政年度，我们面对更严峻的全球商业环
境。集团也借这个时机改善和提升人力资本素质，采
取提高成本效益的措施。这将协助德华工业转型成以
服务为主导的企业，为世界各地的顾客提供优良的服
务。

Teckwah IndusTrIal corporaTIon lTd   •   Annual Report 2008  •  Page 19



FInAncIAl hIghlIghts

Teck Wah AR2008 Option 1A Rev 1

Key Financial & Productivity Data

Y2005 Y2006 Y2007 Y2008

Shareholders’ Funds  ($’000) 81,245 87,546 83,878 87,417 

cash & cash equivalents ($’000) 22,588 23,496 23,286 28,056 

total assets  ($’000) 134,612 121,777 114,893 115,023 

total debt  ($’000) 5,228 2,859 1,739 1,438 

net tangible assets ($’000) 71,520 77,986 75,188 80,242 

Special interim dividend per share (cents) - - 4.30 -

Final dividend per share (cents) 0.80 0.82 0.80 0.80 

Earnings per share (cents) 2.31 3.65 3.37 1.80 

Return on Equity (%) 6.5% 9.5% 9.3% 4.8%

Return on turnover (%) 2.9% 4.4% 4.9% 2.7%

Return on total assets (%) 3.9% 6.9% 6.8% 3.7%

debt to Equity (%) 6.4% 3.3% 2.1% 1.6%

net tangbile assets per share (cents) 31.37 33.76 32.19 34.36 

average staff strength 1,297 1,350 1,278 1,190 

Staff cost ($’000) 29,415 30,061 29,761 29,793 

Staff cost per employee ($’000) 22.68 22.27 23.29 25.04

Sales ($’000) 181,764 189,840 158,102 158,031 

Sales per employee ($’000) 140.14 140.62 123.71 132.80

profit before tax ($’000) 8,464 10,799 8,642 5,299 

profit before tax per employee ($’000) 6.53 8.00 6.76 4.45 

profit attributable to Shareholders ($’000) 5,278 8,358 7,819 4,212

wt average no. of shares (‘00,000) 2,284.36 2,288.48 2,322.09 2,335.50

no. of shares (‘00,000) 2,280.02 2,310.18 2,335.50 2,335.50 
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revenue (s$ million) profit before tax (s$ million) profit before tax by 
business segments (s$ million)

revenue (s$ million)
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print
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2008 55.5%
26.5%

5.7%

12.3%

(s$ million)

singapore 87.7

north Asia 41.9

south Asia 19.4

International 9.0

2008

17%

83%

(s$ million)

print 131.1

non print 26.7

2007 56.9%
26.3%

5.1%

11.7%

(s$ million)

singapore 90.0

north Asia 41.6

south Asia 18.5

International 8.0

2007

18%

82%

(s$ million)

print 129.2

non print 28.6

By Geographical Segments

By Business Segments

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E
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group structure

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd

PT Teckwah Paper Products 
Indonesia

Wuxi Teckwah Printing & 
Packaging Co Ltd

Singapore Print Media Hub 
Pte Ltd

Teckwah Logistics 
Pte Ltd

JNE Logistics Singapore 
Pte Ltd

Teckwah Logistics (India) 
Private Limited

Teckwah Trading (Shanghai) 
Co Ltd

Teckwah Trading (HK) 
Limited

Teckwah Online Pte Ltd

Techwave Media 
Services Pte Ltd

Teckwah Industrial 
Corporation Ltd 
(Taiwan Branch)

Teckwah Value Chain 
Pte Ltd

Teckwah Value Chain 
Sdn Bhd

Teckwah Value Chain 
(Shanghai) Co Ltd  

Teckwah Packaging Systems 
(Shanghai) Co Ltd

Teckwah Packaging Systems 
(Shenzhen) Co Ltd

Teckwah Packaging Systems 
(Suzhou) Co Ltd

PPH Teckwah Value Chain 
Sdn Bhd

Teckwah Paper Products 
Sdn Bhd

Tompac Industrial 
Sdn Bhd

PPH Printing & Packaging 
(Johor) Sdn Bhd

Gemstar Sdn Bhd

Teckwah Value Chain 
(Thailand) Co Ltd

Teckwah Value Chain 
(Taiwan) Ltd

Teckwah Value Chain 
(Japan) Co Ltd

Teckwah Value Chain 
Pty Ltd

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

49%

100%

70%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

50%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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geogrAphIc network

country  teckwah  alliance  total
 Location  Location

Australia  1  6 7
China  5  10 15
Hong Kong  1 1 2
India  1 7 8
Indonesia  1 1 2
Japan  1  0  1
Korea  0 4 4
Malaysia  4 3 7
Philippines  0  1  1
Singapore  3 0 3
Thailand  1  1  2
Taiwan  1  2  3
Total  19  36  55

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E
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Teck Wah AR2008 Option 1A Rev 1

From left to right:

Mr Lee Chee Sit

Mr Peter Chan Pee Teck

Mr Lim Lee Meng

Mr Thomas Chua Kee Seng

Mr Ng Nai Ping

Mr John Lim Hwee Chiang

Ms Mai Ah Ngo



boArd oF dIrectors

mr thomas chua kee seng
Age: 55
Chairman & Managing Director

Mr chua was appointed chairman of 
the Board of directors ( “the Board” ) 
of teckwah industrial corporation ltd 
(“the company”) on 1 april 2002, having 
served as deputy chairman since July 
1999, and been appointed to the Board 
on 30 June 1983. he is also a member 
of the nominating committee and Share 
Options Scheme committee. currently, 
he is the vice president of the Singapore 
chinese chamber of commerce and 
industry, Board member of Standards, 
productivity & innovation (Spring) Board.

he began his career with teckwah in 
May 1979 joining as a Management 
trainee. thereafter he progressed through 
the rank and file in the organisation to 
subsequently become chairman and 
Managing director of the company.

Mr chua obtained his Bachelor of arts 
degree from the nanyang university in 
1979.

mr ng nai ping
Age: 54
Executive Director

Mr ng was appointed as Executive 
director of the Board in February 1995 
and re-elected to the Board on 27 april 
2006. he has served as a member of 
the audit committee since 1995 until 
december 2002 when he stepped down 
in compliance with principle 11 of the 
code of corporate governance. 

he is a member of the Share Options 
Scheme committee. he began his career 
with the united Overseas Bank group in 
1980 and stayed with the Bank for 15 
years covering trade banking, real estate 
financing, corporate banking, and regional 
branch management. 

he joined the company in February 1995 
as the corporate planning and Finance 
director. he is presently the Executive 
director, taking care of the group’s 
Finance, infocomm technology and the 
non-print Related Business which includes 
online distribution, 3rd party logistics, 
reverse logistics, and mission critical parts 
logistics management.

Mr ng graduated in 1980 from the 
nanyang university with an honours 
degree in Business Management & 
Business Finance.

ms mai Ah ngo
Age: 54
Executive Director

Ms Mai was appointed as Executive 
director of the Board on 25 June 1993 
and was re-elected to the Board on 24 
april 2008. She is currently in charge of 
print-Related Business.

She began her career with the company 
in 1982 as a Sales & Marketing assistant 
Manager and was promoted to production 
planning Manager in 1985. She was 
transferred to teckwah printing to 
assume the post of deputy Managing 
director in 1988 and was promoted to 
Managing director in 1989. in 1990, she 
was re-assigned as Operations director, 
responsible for the group’s operations 
in Singapore. in 1993, her portfolio 
was increased to include overseeing the 
group’s operations in Singapore, Malaysia, 
china and indonesia. in 1998 and 1999, 
she was responsible for the group 
Supply chain business and technology 
licensing program. these required regular 
travelling within the region to develop and 
identify potential licensee and setting up 
operations with the licensee in the asia 
pacific Region.

Ms Mai graduated with a Bachelor of arts 
degree from the nanyang university in 
1977. She obtained her Executive MBa 
from the national university of Singapore 
in 1997.

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E
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mr peter chan pee teck
Age: 49
Non-Executive Independent Director

Mr chan was appointed a non-Executive 
independent director on 12 September 
1991. he is the chairman of the 
nominating committee since 20 March 
2002, and is a member of the audit 
committee since 15 april 1994. Mr chan 
was re-elected to the Board on 26 april 
2007.

Mr chan specialises in managing private 
equity investment funds and is presently 
the Managing partner of crest capital 
asia pte ltd, which is responsible for 
managing a number of private equity 
funds covering asia.  

Mr chan graduated from the national 
university of Singapore in 1984 with 
a Bachelor degree in accountancy 
(honours) and is a Fellow member of both 
the institutes certified public accountants 
in Singapore and australia.

mr John lim hwee chiang
Age: 53
Non-Executive Independent Director

Mr lim was appointed a non-Executive 
independent director on 17 February 
1994.  he is the chairman of the 
Remuneration committee and Share 
Options Scheme committee since 20 
March 2002, and is a member of the 
audit committee since 15 april 1994. he 
was re-elected to the Board on 24 april 
2008.

Mr lim is presently the group cEO and an 
Executive director of Singapore-listed aRa 
asset Management limited (“aRa”) and 
a director of the managers of Singapore-
listed Fortune REit and Suntec REit, hong 
Kong-listed prosperity REit, Malaysia-listed 
amFiRSt REit, as well as a non-Executive 
independent director of Singapore-listed 
inter-Roller Engineering limited.  Mr lim 
is also the vice president of the hong 
Kong-Singapore Business association 
and a board member of the asian public 
Real Estate association as well as the 
valuation Review Board of the Ministry of 
Finance of Singapore.  prior to founding 
aRa, Mr lim was an Executive director 
of gRa (Singapore) pte. ltd., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of prudential (uS) Real 
Estate investors from 1997 to 2002, the 
Managing director of the land Manager 
(S) pte. ltd. from 1996 to 1997, and the 
general Manager of the Singapore labour 
Foundation Management Services pte. ltd. 
from 1991 to 1995.  Mr lim began his 
career with dBS land limited (now part of 
capitaland limited) in 1981.

Mr lim holds a Bachelor of Engineering 
(First class honours) in Mechanical 
Engineering, a Master of Science in 
industrial Engineering, as well as a 
diploma in Business administration, each 
from the national university of Singapore.

mr lim lee meng
Age: 53
Non-Executive Independent Director

Mr lim was appointed a non-Executive 
independent director on 18 February 
1994.  he is the chairman of the audit 
committee since 15 april 1994, and a 
member of the Share Options Scheme 
committee and Remuneration committee. 
Mr lim was re-elected to the Board on 27 
april 2006.
    

he is also a director of datapulse 
technology ltd, tye Soon ltd, Europtronic 
group ltd, aRa asset Management 
(Singapore) ltd and aRa trust 
Management (Suntec) limited.  he is 
currently a senior partner of RSM chio 
lim, a member firm of RSM international.

Mr. lim graduated from the nanyang 
university with a Bachelor of commerce 
(accountancy) in May 1980. he also has a 
Master of Business administration degree 
from the university of hull (1992), a 
diploma in Business law from the national 
university of Singapore (1989) and an 
icSa qualification from the institute of 
chartered Secretaries and administrators. 

mr lee chee sit
Age: 49
Non-Executive Director

Mr lee was appointed a non-Executive 
director since 1991. he is a member of 
the Share Options Scheme committee 
and was appointed a member of the 
Remuneration committee on 28 april 
2004. Mr lee was re-elected to the Board 
on 26 april 2007.

he succeeded the founder of lian 
thye & co pte ltd and he is currently 
the Executive director, responsible for 
the strategic planning and general 
management of the company. he has 
more than 20 years of experience in the 
toy industry.

Teck Wah AR2008 Option 1A Rev 1

boArd oF dIrectors

Lending our environment a helping hand 

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E
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Teck Wah AR2008 Option 1A Rev 1

Group Top Management

mr thomas chua kee seng, Age: 55
Chairman & Managing Director

ms mai Ah ngo, Age: 54
Executive Director

mr ng nai ping, Age: 54
Executive Director

Angela kok teo meng kim,
Age: 58
Director, Organisation Development 
and Corporate Communication

after having worked in multi-national 
companies for more than 20 years, Mrs 
Kok made a career switch and joined 
teckwah group in February 1995 as 
its general Manager of teckwah paper 
products ltd. in 1998, she became the 
director of the group’s printing and 
packaging Business. From business 
operations, she moved over to the human 
aspect of the organsation and became the 
director, Organisation development and 
corporate communication in 2001. 

Mrs Kok holds a diploma in Rubber 
and plastics technology from Singapore 
polytechnic, Bachelor degree in Business 
administration from Royal Melbourne 
institute of technology, and Master 
degree in Business administration from 
university of Strathclyde.

Group Senior Management

mr James chua kee hin, Age: 47
Regional Business Director,
Teckwah Value Chain Pte Ltd

Mr chua is currently overseeing 
the group’s value chain business 
development in the region. his key 
responsibility is on building and 
strengthening business relations with 
customers. 

Mr chua began his career with teckwah 
in 1987 as a Sales & Marketing Executive. 
he was seconded to Malacca, Malaysia in 
1990 to start up teckwah’s first overseas’ 
subsidiary. Returning to Singapore in 
1995, he took up the position of project 
Manager and was responsible for new 
projects including digital on-demand 
printing. in 1997, his portfolio was 
expanded to include Sales & Marketing 
function and was re-designated to Sales 
and Marketing Manager. in 1999, he 
was promoted to general Manager of 
teckwah printing & packaging pte ltd. 
in 2001, he was appointed as director 
/ general Manager. in 2007, Mr chua 
was appointed Business director, and his 
portfolio was further expanded in 2008 to 
oversee the group’s print related business 
activities in the region. Mr chua holds a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Business 
administration from the Ohio State 
university, uSa.

mr Jasper tan peck leong, Age: 45
Regional Business Development 
Director, 
Teckwah Value Chain Pte Ltd  

Mr tan is currently responsible for new 
business development for the group’s 
value chain business in the region he 
joined teckwah in 1990 as sales executive 
and was one of the pioneer team 
members that helped teckwah expand its 
printing business in uS and Europe. 

in 1999, he was appointed as the general 
Manager for techwave Media Services pte 
ltd in Singapore. he was a member of the 
teckwah technology licensing programme 
and was involved in businesses 
development and operations in the region. 
he was appointed director/general 
Manager, teckwah Online pte ltd in 
2003 and was responsible for the Online 
distribution business.  in 2007, Jasper was 
assigned Business development director 
of the group. 

Mr tan has many years of working 
experience with companies in it industry. 
he holds Bachelor of Science (hons) in 
Economics from university of london.  

executIVe mAnAgement
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mr kew kee hing, Age: 45
Regional Business Operations Director, 
Teckwah Value Chain Pte Ltd

Mr Kew is currently overseeing the group’s 
value chain operations in the region and 
is responsible for achieving optimal level of 
efficiency and effectiveness of the entire 
business operations. 

Mr Kew joined teckwah in March 1999 as 
Operations Manager and was responsible 
for the value chain operations. in 2001, 
he was assigned Operations director of 
teckwah logistics to oversee the group’s 
logistics operations. in 2007, Mr Kew was 
appointed Operations director of teckwah 
value chain pte ltd.

in addition to taking charge of the 
operations of teckwah value chain, he 
also actively supports the group’s Solution 
centre. he has many years of working 
experience in electronics manufacturing 
industry in Singapore. Mr Kew holds a 
Bachelor of arts degree from the national 
university of Malaysia

ms pang hong lan, Age: 49
ICT & Solution Centre Director

Ms pang joined teckwah in 1999 as a 
Senior Manager (Special projects). She 
has contributed to the development of 
the group’s value chain and logistics 
businesses. She has also led the 
development of 2 products which have 
been trademarked. Ms pang has also 
been responsible for the expansion of 
the information and communication 
infrastructure for the group’s business in 
the asia pacific Region. She is currently 
the ict and Solution centre director. Ms 
pang holds a Bachelor of Science degree 
in production Engineering and production 
Management from the university of 
nottingham, uK, and Master of Science in 
industrial Engineering from the national 
university of Singapore.

ms tan peck hoon, Age: 46
Business Compliance, Corporate 
Planning & Finance Director

Ms tan joined teckwah in november 2002 
as group Financial controller. She was 
promoted to Finance director in January 
2006. at the same time she also took 
up new responsibilities as the Business 
compliance director. her portfolio was 
expanded in 2008 to include corporate 
planning functions. 

Ms tan began her career as an audit 
assistant. She progressed to work in 
multinational companies covering 
areas in planning and analysis, financial 
reporting and system implementation for 
the asia pacific Region. Ms tan holds a 
Bachelor of accountancy degree from the 
national university of Singapore. She is a 
member of the institute of certified public 
accountants of Singapore.

mrs sheryl tan chong chai nyuen
Age: 51
Group Human Resource Manager

Mrs tan joined teckwah as group human 
Resource Manager in June 2001. She 
is responsible for the group’s human 
Resource Management and development. 
Before joining teckwah, she worked in 
several multinational corporations and 
local enterprises in the capacity of regional 
human resource manager and consultant. 
Mrs tan holds a Bachelor of arts degree 
from the national university of Singapore.

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

Teckwah IndusTrIal corporaTIon lTd   •   Annual Report 2008  •  Page 29



Teck Wah AR2008 Option 1A Rev 1

corporAte InFormAtIon

Founder And honorArY  
lIFe counsellor

Chua Seng Tek

boArd oF dIrectors

Chairman & Managing Director
Thomas Chua Kee Seng

Executive Directors
Mai Ah Ngo
Ng Nai Ping

Directors
Peter Chan Pee Teck
Lee Chee Sit
John Lim Hwee Chiang
Lim Lee Meng

group top mAnAgement

Chairman & Managing Director
Thomas Chua Kee Seng

Executive Director
Mai Ah Ngo

Executive Director
Ng Nai Ping

Director, Organisation Development & 
Corporate Communication
Angela Kok Teo Meng Kim

group senIor mAnAgement

Regional Business Director
James Chua Kee Hin

Regional Business Development Director
Jasper Tan Peck Leong 

Regional Business Operations Director
Kew Kee Hing

ICT & Solution Centre Director
Pang Hong Lan

Business Compliance, Corporate Planning 
& Finance Director
Tan Peck Hoon

Group Human Resource Manager
Sheryl Tan Chong Chai Nyuen

AudIt commIttee

Chairman
Lim Lee Meng

Peter Chan Pee Teck
John Lim Hwee Chiang

remunerAtIon commIttee

Chairman
John Lim Hwee Chiang

Lee Chee Sit 
Lim Lee Meng

nomInAtIng commIttee

Chairman
Peter Chan Pee Teck

Thomas Chua Kee Seng
John Lim Hwee Chiang

emploYee shAre optIon 
scheme commIttee

Chairman
John Lim Hwee Chiang

Thomas Chua Kee Seng
Lee Chee Sit
Lim Lee Meng
Ng Nai Ping

AudItors

Deloitte & Touche LLP
6 Shenton Way #32-00
DBS Building Tower Two
Singapore 068809

Partner-In Charge
Giam Ei Leen
Appointment effective from financial 
year ended December 31, 2007

compAnY secretArY

Chuang Sheue Ling B. Acc
Michelle Lo Swee Oi ACIS

regIstered oFFIce

25 Pandan Crescent 
#05-15 TIC Tech Centre
Singapore 128477

regIstrAr & shAre trAnsFer 
oFFIce

Tricor Barbinder Share Registration 
Services
(a business division of Tricor 
Singapore Pte Ltd)
8 Cross Street
#11-00 PWC Building
Singapore 048424

prIncIpAl bAnkers

DBS Bank
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation

Page 30  •  annual report 2008   •   Teckwah IndusTrIal corporaTIon lTd



Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd 
25 Pandan Crescent #05-15 
TIC Tech Centre Singapore 128477 
Tel   : 65 6872 8181  
Fax   : 65 6872 8199
Web : www.teckwah.com.sg  
Email   : info@teckwah.com.sg  
Contact Person : Ms Angela Kok, 
  Director, 
  Corporate Communication 

PT Teckwah Paper Products Indonesia 
Batamindo Industrial Park 
Jalan Beringin Lot 268-269 & 318
Mukakuning – Batam 29433 Indonesia 
Tel  : 62 770 612042 / 612074 
Fax  : 62 770 612050 
Contact Person : Mr James Chua, 
  Regional Business Director

Wuxi Teckwah Printing & Packaging 
Co., Ltd 
Jiangsu Province, Wuxi City 
Xishan District, 
E Hu Town (Dangkou) 
People’s Republic of China 214116
Tel : 86 510 88748181  
  86 510 88746281
Fax  : 86 510 88741377 
Contact Person : Mr Ang Aik Pin, 
    General Manager 

Singapore Print Media Hub Pte Ltd
25 Pandan Crescent #05-15 
TIC Tech Centre Singapore 128477 
Tel  : 65 6872 8181  
Fax  : 65 6872 8199
Contact Person : Mr Jasper Tan
  Regional Business
  Development Director

  

contAct lIst

Teckwah Logistics Pte Ltd 
25 Pandan Crescent #05-15 
TIC Tech Centre Singapore 128477 
Tel  : 65 6872 8181 
Fax  : 65 6872 8229 
Web : www.teckwahlogistics.com
Email : asia@teckwahlogistics.com
Contact Person : Mr Ng Nai Ping, 
  Executive Director 

6 Changi South Street 2 #04-01
Singapore 486349
Tel : 65 6542 9683 / 5116
Fax : 65 6542 6127
Contact Person : Mr Ng Nai Ping, 
  Executive Director

Teckwah Service Hub
61 Tai Seng Avenue
#05-13 UE Print Media Hub
Singapore 534167
Tel : 6593 9788
Fax : 6281 3649
Contact Person : Ms Lydia Peh, 
  Business Development 
  Manager

JNE Logistics Singapore Pte Ltd 
a member of Teckwah Logistics 
25 Pandan Crescent #05-15 
TIC Tech Centre Singapore 128477 
Tel  : 65 6282 0475 
Fax : 65 6282 0455 
Web : www.jnelogistics.com
Contact Person : Mr Tan See Chong
  Business Operations 
  Manager 

Teckwah Logistics (India) 
Private Limited
c/o 206B APRA PLAZA 
DDA Community Centre, Road No.44 
Pitam Pura, Delhi-34 
India
Web : www.teckwahlogistics.com
Email : asia@teckwahlogistics.com

Teckwah Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
925 Ye Cheng Road Jia Ding 
Shanghai 201821 
People’s Republic of China     
Tel  : 86 21 5916 7580     
Fax  : 86 21 5916 1566     
Web : www.teckwahlogistics.com
Email : asia@teckwahlogistics.com 
Contact Person : Mr Ng Nai Ping
  Executive Director

Teckwah Trading (HK) Limited
21st Floor Chinachem Tower, 
34-37 Connaught Road Central, 
Hong Kong
Web : www.teckwahlogistics.com
Email : asia@teckwahlogistics.com
Contact Person : Mr Ng Nai Ping,
  Executive Director

 

Teckwah PharmaPack Solutions 
a division of Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd 

25 Pandan Crescent #05-15 
TIC Tech Centre Singapore 128477 
Tel  : 65 6872 8181 
Fax  : 65 6872 8229 
Contact Person : Mr James Chua, 
    Regional Business Director 

 

Teckwah Online Pte Ltd
25 Pandan Crescent #05-15
TIC Tech Centre Singapore 128477
Tel : 65 6872 8181
Fax : 65 6872 8199
Contact Person : Mr Ng Nai Ping
  Executive Director

 

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

group®

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

logistics®

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

pharma™

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

digital®

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

print & pack®

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E
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Techwave Media Services Pte Ltd
25 Pandan Crescent #05-15
TIC Tech Centre Singapore 128477
Tel : 65 6872 8181
Fax : 65 6872 8199
Contact Person : Ms Pang Hong Lan,
  Director

Teckwah Value Chain Pte Ltd 
25 Pandan Crescent #05-15 
TIC Tech Centre Singapore 128477 
Tel  : 65 6872 8181 
Fax  : 65 6872 8229 
Contact Person : Mr James Chua, 
    Regional Business Director

61 Tai Seng Avenue
#05-13 UE Print Media Hub
Singapore 534167
Tel : 6214 8181
Fax : 6488 1733
Contact : Mr Jasper Tan
  Regional Business 
  Development Director

Teckwah Value Chain Sdn Bhd 
Penang 
Plot 468 & 482, 
Jalan Perusahaan Baru 
Prai Industrial Estate 
13600 Prai, Penang, Malaysia 
Tel  : 60 4 390 9181 
Fax  : 60 4 397 6181 
Contact Person : Mr Ricky Tan, 
    Managing Director 

Kuala Lumpur 
Lot 1C/10 Anzen Business Park No 3-9,
Jalan 4/37A, Kaw Perindustrian
Taman Bukit Maluri 
52100 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel : 60 3 6276 4248 
Fax : 60 3 6276 4281
Contact Person : Mr John Chua, 
    Program Manager

Teckwah Value Chain 
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd    
Building D2, No.33 Forward Road Jia Ding
Shanghai 201818 
People’s Republic of China     
Tel   : 86 21 5990 0909     
Fax  : 86 21 5990 6090     
Contact Person : Ms Doreen Wang,     
  General Manager   
  
Teckwah Packaging Systems 
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd    
#15, 5th Floor, Block C, No.69 Xi Ya Road,
Waigaoqiao Free Trade Zone 
Pudong Shanghai 200131
People’s Republic of China
Tel  : 86 21 5046 1515     
Fax  : 86 21 5046 1248     
Contact Person : Mr Jasper Tan     
  Regional Business 
  Development Director  
  
Teckwah Packaging Systems 
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd    
Blk B, Unit A, 1st Floor
No. 3 HuangHuai Dao, 
Futian Free Trade Zone
Shenzhen 518038 
People’s Republic of China      
Tel   : 86 755 8359 9181 
Fax  : 86 755 8359 9186        
Contact Person : Mr Jasper Tan,     
  Regional Business 
  Development Director  

Teckwah Packaging Systems 
(Suzhou) Co., Ltd    
No. 6 Baoda Road,
215122 Suzhou Industrial Park
People’s Republic of China
Tel : 86 21 6362 1000 
Fax : 86 21 6362 1020  
Contact Person : Mr Jasper Tan,     
  Regional Business 
  Development Director

Teckwah Value Chain 
(Thailand) Co., Ltd
10th Floor Unit B Thanapoom Tower 
1550 New Petchburi Road 
Makasan, Rajathevi 
Bangkok 10400 Thailand
Tel   : 66 2 6526866
Fax  : 66 2 6526855
Contact Person : Mr Komsan Tantimuratha,
  Country Manager

Teckwah Value Chain (Taiwan) Ltd
13F, No. 800 ChungZheng Road 
Chungho City
Taipei County Taiwan ROC 
Tel : 88 62 8221 4690
Fax : 88 62 8221 4687
Contact Person : Ms Vivian Cheng, 
  Country Manager

Teckwah Value Chain (Japan) Co. Ltd
3-6-1 Heiwajima Tokyo Danchi Souko 
A-1 Tou
Daiwa Corporation Kitsuke 2nd Floor
Ota-ku, Tokyo 143-0006 Japan 
Tel : 81 3 5767 8686
Fax : 81 3 5763 3323
Contact Person : Mr Andy Nishihara
  Managing Director

Teckwah Value Chain Pty Ltd
ABN 35 115 902 380 ACN 115 902 380
Unit 3/314 Horlsey Road
Milperra NSW 2214 Australia 
Tel : 612 8723 8900
Fax : 612 9772 2728
Contact Person : Mr Peter Torreson
    General Manager

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
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Teckwah Group is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance by complying with the benchmark set 
by the Code of Corporate Governance (“the Code”) revised by the Council on Corporate Disclosure Governance Committee in 2005.   The 
Company continues to implement further practices to comply more fully with the recommendations of the Code.

While there will always be business risks, we believe these standards are the cornerstones in building a sound corporation and in protecting 
the interests of the shareholders.

Good corporate governance enables a company to be more transparent and forward looking. In addition it is an effective safeguard 
against fraud and dubious financial engineering.

Teckwah upholds the principle that all involved in governance and managing the Group and its subsidiaries must act with high standards 
of ethics, integrity and transparency.  

This report outlines the Company’s corporate governance processes and structures that are in place. Given the Group’s size and stage of 
development, we believe the overall corporate governance we have in place is appropriate and complies with the requirements of the 
Code of Corporate Governance.

BoARD oF DIReCtoRs

Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Board and the committees, formed to assist the Board in the execution of its responsibilities, meet at least once in every quarter or as 
convened when necessary. Telephonic attendance and conference via audio-visual communication at Board meetings are allowed under 
the Company’s Articles of Association.

In the year under review, the number of board meetings and committee meetings held and attended by each member are as follows:

Board
Meeting

Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Nominating
Committee

Name

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

Thomas Chua Kee Seng 4 4 - - - - 1 1
Ng Nai Ping 4 4 - - - - - -
Mai Ah Ngo 4 4 - - - - - -
Lee Chee Sit 4 3 - - 1 1 - -
Peter Chan Pee Teck 4 4 3 3 - - 1 1
Lim Lee Meng 4 4 3 3 1 1 - -
John Lim Hwee Chiang 4 4 3 3 1 1 1 1

The Board is responsible for:

(1)  Formulating and approving the broad policies, strategies and financial objectives of the Group and monitoring its performance;
(2)  Approving annual budgets, major funding proposals, investment and divestment proposals;
(3)  Overseeing the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls and risk management;
(4) Approving the nominations of board directors;
(5)  Assuming the responsibility for corporate governance and compliances with the Companies Act and rules and requirements of 

regulatory bodies.

Matters, which are specifically reserved to the Board for decision, are those involving material acquisitions and disposal of assets, corporate 
or financial restructuring and share issuances and dividends. 

CoRPoRAte GoVeRNANCe RePoRt
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The Board has established a number of committees namely the Nominating, Audit, Remuneration and Share Option Scheme Committees 
to assist in the execution of responsibilities more effectively. These committees function within clearly defined terms of reference and 
operating procedures.
 
New directors are given a formal letter explaining his duties and obligations as a director.  Newly-appointed directors are briefed on the 
Group’s business and Corporate Governance policies. Familiarization visits are organized, if necessary, to facilitate a better understanding 
of the Group’s operations.

The Board has no dissenting views on the Chairman’s statement for the year in review.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Balance

The Board consists of 7 directors out of which three are executive directors, three non-executive and independent directors, and one non-
executive director. 

The Chairman of the Board is Mr Thomas Chua Kee Seng (executive director). The three non-executive and independent directors are Mr 
Peter Chan Pee Teck, Mr John Lim Hwee Chiang and Mr Lim Lee Meng.

The composition of the Board and independence of each director is reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee.

The Nominating Committee is of the view that the current Board size of seven directors is appropriate taking into account the nature and 
scope of the Group’s operations, and, the depth and breadth of knowledge, expertise and business experiences of the directors to govern 
and manage the Group’s affairs.

Principle 3: Role of Chairman and Chief executive officer (“Ceo”)

Mr Thomas Chua Kee Seng is currently the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the Company. The Board has not 
adopted the recommendation of the Code to have separate directors appointed as the Chairman and Managing Director. This is because 
the Board is of the view that there is already a sufficiently strong independent element on the Board to enable independent exercise of 
objective judgement of corporate affairs of the Company by members of the Board, taking into account factors such as the number of 
non-executive and independent directors on the Board, as well as the size and scope of its affairs.  To enhance the independence of the 
Board, a lead independent director has been appointed to be available to shareholders where they have concerns which contact through 
normal channels has failed to resolve.

As the Chairman, Mr Thomas Chua Kee Seng is responsible for exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the flow of 
information between the management of the Company and the Board, and in ensuring compliance with the guidelines on Corporate 
Governance.

BoARD CoMMIttees

Nominating Committee

Principle 4: Board Membership
Principle 5: Board Performance

The Nominating Committee (“NC”) comprises two non-executive and independent directors, and one executive director. The Chairman of 
the NC is Mr Peter Chan Pee Teck. Mr Peter Chan is an Independent Director, who is not associated with the substantial shareholders of 
the Company. The other members are Mr Thomas Chua Kee Seng and Mr John Lim Hwee Chiang.

CoRPoRAte GoVeRNANCe RePoRt
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The NC’s role is to establish an objective and transparent process for :-

1) the appointment or re-appointment of members of the Board and of all Board committees.
2)  evaluating and assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, and the contribution by each individual director to the 

effectiveness of the Board. The NC has considered a number of factors including those set out in the Code of Corporate Governance, 
for the purpose of such evaluation and assessment.

3) determining the independence of directors.

For the purpose of its evaluation of the directors’ performance, the Nominating Committee focuses on whether the directors, individually 
or collectively possesses the background, experience, competencies in finance and management skills critical to the Group’s business as 
well as whether each director, with his special contributions, brings to the Board an independent and objective perspective to enable 
sound, balanced and well-considered decisions to be made. 

In Feb 2006, the Board approved the adoption of a formal process for the selection and appointment of new directors, as set out 
below :- 

1) Search Process
	 •	 	Identify	the	criteria	that	the	prospective	candidates	should	possess	:	age	group,	sex,	qualifications,	experience,	personal	

attributes and skills.
	 •	 	Source	from	recommendations	of	fellow	Board	members,	business	associates	or	trade	organizations.

2) Selection Process
	 •	 	After	an	initial	assessment	of	the	CVs,	a	verification	check	is	conducted	through	various	contacts	such	as	friends,	bankers,	

business associates, etc.
	 •	 	Formal	interview	of	short-listed	candidates	to	assess	suitability	and	ensure	that	they	are	aware	of	expectations	and	level	

of commitment required.

3) Nomination Process
	 •	 	Recommend	to	the	Board	the	nomination	of	successful	candidates.

4) Appointment Process
	 •	 	Based	on	the	recommendations	by	the	NC,	the	Board	approves	the	appointment	via	a	resolution.
	 •	 	Board	to	approve	any	other	appointments	to	sub-committees,	if	appropriate.
	 •	 	Issue	letter	of	appointment	setting	out	terms	and	conditions	of	appointment	such	as	period	of	office,	compensation	&	

benefits,	duties	&	responsibilities	and	termination.

New directors who are appointed by way of a board resolution after the NC has approved their nomination, shall submit themselves for 
re-election at the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company. Article 100 of the Company’s Articles of Association requires 
one third of the Board to retire by rotation at every AGM, except that the Managing Director is not subject to retirement by rotation.

Review of the Board performance, as appropriate, are undertaken collectively by the Board annually and informally on a continual basis 
by the Nominating Committee. 

The Board has maintained the position that the use of financial indicators, as prescribed in the Code of Corporate Governance, may not be 
a complete measurement of the Board’s performance. More importantly, independent and objective perspective of the Board, individually 
and collectively, is the cornerstone in ensuring that all decisions made are balanced and well-considered, thus serving the best interests of 
the Group and fulfilling the Board’s long term objective of enhancing shareholders’ wealth. 

CoRPoRAte GoVeRNANCe RePoRt
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Audit Committee

Principle 11: Audit Committee
Principle 12: Internal Controls

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three non-executive and independent directors. These directors have the appropriate accounting 
or related financial management expertise or experience to discharge the Audit Committee’s functions. Mr Lim Lee Meng, who is a partner 
in an accounting firm, chairs the Audit Committee. The other members are Mr Peter Chan Pee Teck and Mr John Lim Hwee Chiang.

The Audit Committee performs the following functions: 

1) recommends to the Board of Directors the external auditors to be nominated;
2)  reviews the scope, audit plans, results and effectiveness of the external and internal auditors;
3)  reviews any related significant findings and recommendations of the external and internal auditors together with the management’s 

responses thereto;
4)  reviews the adequacy of the Group’s system of accounting controls, financial and management reporting systems;
5)  reviews significant risks or exposures with the management and the external and internal auditors and assesses the steps 

management has taken to minimize such risks to the Group;
6)  reviews with the management, internal and external auditors the announcements of the interim and full year results of the Group 

and its financial statements;
7)  reviews interested party transactions as may be required by regulatory authorities or the provisions of the Companies Act;
8) reviews legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements;
9)  reports actions and minutes of the Audit Committee to the Board of Directors with such recommendations, as the Audit Committee 

considers appropriate.

The AC is empowered to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, and has full access to, and the co-operation of the Management 
with full discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee meets the external auditors 
(without the presence of the Company’s management) at least once a year.

The Audit Committee reviewed the findings of the auditors and the assistance given to them by management. Minutes of the Audit 
Committee meetings are regularly submitted to the Board for its information and review.

The	Company’s	external	auditors	Deloitte	&	Touche	LLP,	in	the	course	of	performing	their	statutory	audit,	reviews	the	effectiveness	of	
certain of the Company’s internal controls where a reliance on such internal controls results in more efficient audit procedures. Material 
non-compliance and internal control weaknesses noted during such a review are reported to the Audit Committee together with their 
recommendations.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s risk assessment, and based on the audit reports and management controls in place, is 
satisfied that there are adequate internal controls in the Group.

The Audit Committee confirms that it has undertaken a review of all non-audit services provided by the external auditors and is satisfied 
that such services would not, in the Audit Committee’s opinion, affect the independence of the auditors.

The	Audit	Committee	has	recommended	to	the	Board	the	nomination	of	Deloitte	&	Touche	LLP	for	re-appointment	as	external	auditors	
of the Company at the forthcoming AGM.
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Remuneration Committee
share option scheme Committee (“the scheme”)

Principle 7:  Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
Principle 8:  Level and Mix of Remuneration
Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

The Remuneration Committee comprises three directors, of whom the majority are non-executive and independent directors. The 
Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr John Lim Hwee Chiang. The other members are Mr Lim Lee Meng and Mr Lee Chee Sit.

The Remuneration Committee has access to expert professional advice on human resource matters whenever there is a need to consult 
externally. In its deliberations, the Remuneration Committee takes into consideration industry practices and norms in compensation.

The Remuneration Committee’s principal responsibilities are to:

1)  review periodically and recommend to the Board an appropriate framework of compensation practices to attract, retain and 
motivate management staff of the required caliber to manage the Group successfully;

2)  Review and recommend the CEO’s remuneration and those of the executive directors whose remuneration packages include a 
variable bonus component which is performance-related, and also stock options which have been designed to align their interests 
with those of the shareholders;

3)  Review the recommendation of the executive directors, for approval of the Board, the fees of the non-executive directors and such 
payment as may be payable pursuant to Article 89 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

The	executive	directors’	remuneration	packages	are	based	on	the	performance	of	the	Group	and	the	individual.	The	Chairman	&	Managing	
Director is currently on a 3-year renewable service Agreement that commenced on 2nd March 1994. The terms and conditions are reviewed 
by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board.

Non-executive directors have no service contracts and are paid a basic fee and additional fees for attendance at and service on Board 
Committees’ meetings. Directors’ Fees are subjected to approval by shareholders  at the AGM of the Company. A breakdown, showing the 
level and mix of each individual director’s remuneration payable for FY 2008 is as follows:

Remuneration salary Bonus other Benefits Directors total
Band $ % % % Fees % %

executive Directors
Thomas Chua Kee Seng 500,000 to 749,999 67.22% 29.48% 3.30% 0.00% 100.00%
Mai Ah Ngo 250,000 to 499,999 64.81% 22.05% 13.14% 0.00% 100.00%
Ng Nai Ping 250,000 to 499,999 64.29% 22.29% 13.42% 0.00% 100.00%

Non-executive Directors
Lim Lee Meng 0 to 249,999 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Peter Chan Pee Teck 0 to 249,999 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%
John Lim Hwee Chiang 0 to 249,999 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Lee Chee Sit 0 to 249,999 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%

The Share Option Scheme Committee administers the Teckwah Employees’ Share Option Scheme. The scheme was approved by the 
shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 12 September 2001.
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The Share Option Scheme Committee comprises the following directors:

Chairman:  Mr John Lim Hwee Chiang (Non-Executive and Independent Director)
Members: Mr Lim Lee Meng (Non-Executive and Independent Director)
  Mr Lee Chee  Sit ( Non-Executive  Director)
	 	 Mr	Thomas	Chua	Kee	Seng	(Chairman	&	Managing	Director)
  Mr Ng Nai Ping (Executive Director)

The functions of the Committee are to administer the Scheme and to deliberate on the matters on eligibility of the employees of the 
Company and its subsidiaries as well as the number of options to be granted to each participant, in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the Scheme.

Details of the Scheme are found in the Directors’ Report. During the financial year, no options were granted under the Scheme and there 
are no outstanding options as at year end.

The information required for the annual remuneration report is provided herein and in the Directors’ Report. 

Disclosure of the top seven executives’ remuneration (executives who are not directors) in bands of S$250,000/- is as follows:

Number of executives within the Group in Remuneration Bands  

Name of executive Remuneration Band salary % Bonus % other Benefits % total %

Teo Meng Kim Angela $250,000 to $499,000 62.00% 22.34% 15.66% 100.00%
Chong Chai Nyuen Sheryl Below $250,000 76.35% 20.53% 3.12% 100.00%
Chua Kee Hin James Below $250,000 75.69% 21.05% 3.26% 100.00%
Kew Kee Hing Below $250,000 72.08% 23.53% 4.39% 100.00%
Pang Hong Lan Below $250,000 75.30% 24.39% 0.31% 100.00%
Tan Peck Hoon Below $250,000 73.89% 24.03% 2.08% 100.00%
Tan Peck Leong Jasper Below $250,000 76.04% 20.56% 3.40% 100.00%

One	employee,	whose	remuneration	exceeds	$150,000	during	the	year,	is	related	to	the	Chairman	&	Managing	Director.

Principle 6: Access to Information

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfill its responsibilities, the Management provides the Board with quarterly management 
accounts. In addition, all relevant information on material events and transactions are circulated to directors as and when they arise. 
Wherever necessary, senior management staff will be invited to attend the Board meetings to answer queries and provide detailed 
insights into their areas of operations.

The directors have been provided with the phone numbers and email particulars of the Company’s senior management and Company 
Secretary to facilitate access.

The	directors	are	kept	well-informed	by	the	Chairman	&	Managing	Director	on	the	status	of	on-going	activities	between	meetings.	Where	
a decision has to be made before a Board meeting, a circulating directors’ resolution is done in accordance with the Articles of Association 
of the Company and the directors are provided with all necessary information to enable them to make informed decisions. The Company 
Secretary will also ensure that any queries made by the directors will be answered promptly by the Management. Where the directors, 
either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their duties, require professional advice, the Company Secretary can be approached 
to assist them to obtain independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense. Board members have separate and independent 
access to the Company Secretary at all times.
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Principle 13: Internal Audit

The Board supports the need and is responsible for maintaining a system of internal controls and processes to safeguard shareholders’ 
investments and the Group’s assets. The Audit Committee is tasked to oversee the implementation of an effective system of internal 
controls as well as putting in place a risk management framework to continually identify, evaluate and manage significant business risks 
of the Group. The Audit Committee has the mandate to authorize special reviews or investigations, where appropriate, in discharging its 
responsibilities.

The internal audit function is outsourced to PricewaterhouseCoopers who reports directly to the Audit Committee. The internal auditors 
support the Audit Committee in their role to assess the effectiveness of the Group’s overall system of operational and financial controls 
as well as assist in the implementation of a risk management framework. The Audit Committee reviews and approves the annual internal 
audit plan proposed by the internal auditors. Material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses noted during the internal audits 
are reported together with the internal auditors’ recommendations to the Audit Committee periodically.

CoMMUNICAtIoN WItH sHAReHoLDeRs

Principle 10: Accountability and Audit
Principle 14: Communication with shareholders
Principle 15: Greater shareholder Participation

The Company does not practice selective disclosure. Price sensitive announcements including interim and full year results are released 
through SGXNET and subsequently posted on the Company’s website. The Company’s Corporate Communication Department manages 
investor’s relations and attends to their queries. All shareholders of the Company receive the Annual Report and notice of AGM which can 
be assessed from the Company’s website. At AGMs, shareholders are given the opportunity to air their views and ask questions regarding 
the Group and its business.

The Articles of Association of the Company allow a member of the Company to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote instead 
of the member.

INteResteD PeRsoN tRANsACtIoNs

Since the end of the previous financial period, the Company and its subsidiaries did not enter into any material contract involving the 
interest of the directors or controlling shareholders and no such material contract still subsist at the end of the financial year.

CoDe oF BUsINess etHICs

The Group has in place a Code of Business Ethics which employees are required to observe for the purpose of maintaining high standards of 
integrity and business conduct. This Code clearly defines the process through which employees, in confidence, report possible improprieties 
in matter of financial reporting or other matters to the Audit Committee for follow up action.

DeALINGs IN seCURItIes

The Group has adopted an internal code which prohibits the directors and executives of the Group from dealing in the Company’s shares 
during the periods commencing one month prior to the announcement of the Group’s full year and half year results and ending on the 
date of the announcement of the results, or if they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group. In addition, 
directors and key executives are expected to observe insider trading laws at all times even when dealing in securities within the permitted 
trading period.
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RePoRt oF tHe DIReCtoRs

The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the group and balance sheet and 
statement of changes in equity of the company for the financial year ended December 31, 2008.

1 DIReCtoRs

 The directors of the company in office at the date of this report are:

 Mr. Chua Kee Seng Thomas
 Mr. Ng Nai Ping
 Mdm. Mai Ah Ngo
 Mr. Lee Chee Sit*
 Mr. Chan Pee Teck Peter*
 Mr. Lim Hwee Chiang John*
 Mr. Lim Lee Meng*

 *   Non-executive directors

2 ARRANGeMeNts to eNABLe DIReCtoRs to ACQUIRe BeNeFIts
 BY MeANs oF tHe ACQUIsItIoN oF sHARes AND DeBeNtURes

  Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement whose object 
is to enable the directors of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures in the company 
or any other body corporate except as disclosed in paragraph 3 of the Report of the Directors.

3 DIReCtoRs’ INteRests IN sHARes AND DeBeNtURes

  The directors of the company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital and debentures 
of the company and its related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the company under 
Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as follows:

shareholdings
registered in the
name of directors

shareholdings in which
directors are deemed to

      have an interest      

At
January 1,

2008 

At
December 31,

2008 

At
January 1,

2008

At
December 31,

2008
the company

ordinary shares 

Mr. Chua Kee Seng Thomas 1,800,000 1,800,000 1,608,000 1,608,000
Mr. Lee Chee Sit -       -       26,216,900 26,216,900
Mdm. Mai Ah Ngo 792,000 792,000 1,608,000 1,608,000
Mr. Ng Nai Ping 780,000 780,000 -        -        
Mr. Lim Lee Meng 140,000 140,000 -        -        
Mr. Lim Hwee Chiang John 140,000 140,000 -        -        
Mr. Chan Pee Teck Peter 140,000 -       -        140,000

 
 The directors’ interests in the shares of the company remain unchanged as at January 21, 2009.
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RePoRt oF tHe DIReCtoRs

4 DIReCtoRs’ ReCeIPt AND eNtItLeMeNt to CoNtRACtUAL BeNeFIts

  Since the beginning of the financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is required to 
be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by the company or a related 
corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial 
interest except as disclosed in the financial statements.

5 sHARe oPtIoNs 

 a) Options to take up unissued shares

   The Teckwah Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was approved by the shareholders at the 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on September 12, 2001.  The Share Option Scheme is administered by committee of 
directors comprising:

  Chairman : Mr. Lim Hwee Chiang John  (Independent Director)
  Members : Mr. Chua Kee Seng Thomas  (Chairman and Managing Director)
     Mr. Ng Nai Ping   (Executive Director)
     Mr. Lee Chee Sit   (Non-Executive Director)
     Mr. Lim Lee Meng   (Independent Director)

   Mr. Lim Hwee Chiang John, Mr. Chua Kee Seng Thomas, Mr. Ng Nai Ping and Mr. Lim Lee Meng did not participate in any 
deliberation or decision in respect of the options granted to them.

   Under the Share Option Scheme, an option entitles the option holder to subscribe for a specific number of new ordinary 
shares in the company comprised in the option.  The exercise price shall be determined by the Share Option Scheme 
Committee at its absolute discretion and fixed by the Committee as the price equal to the average of the last dealt price 
for the company’s share, as determined by reference to the Official List published by the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), for the last five market days immediately preceding the offering date of the option. 

   The consideration for the grant of an option is $1.00.  Options granted shall be exercisable during the relevant option 
period commencing after the first anniversary but before the fifth anniversary of the date of the grant.  Options granted 
will lapse when the option holder ceases to be a full-time employee of the company or any company within the group 
subject to certain exceptions at the discretion of the board of directors.

 b) Unissued shares under option and options exercised

   The number of shares under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the issued share capital of the company.  
The number of outstanding share options under the scheme are as follows:

Number of share options

Date of grant

Balance as
at January

1, 2008 Granted exercised
Lapsed/

Forfeited

Balance as
at December

31, 2008

exercise
price

per share
exercisable

period

April 14, 2003 48,000 - - 48,000 - - -
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5 sHARe oPtIoNs (Cont’d)

 b) Unissued shares under option and options exercised (Cont’d)

  i)  Aggregate options granted to directors under the Share Option Scheme since the commencement of the Scheme 
were as follows:

    Aggregate options
    granted since
    commencement  Aggregate options options
    of scheme to  exercised since outstanding
    end of previous options granted commencement as at December
   Name financial year during the year of scheme 31, 2008

   Mr. Chua Kee Seng Thomas 1,300,000 -      1,300,000 -

   Mdm. Mai Ah Ngo 780,000 -      780,000 -

   Mr. Ng Nai Ping 780,000 -      780,000 -

   Mr. Lim Lee Meng 364,000 -        364,000 -

   Mr. Lim Hwee Chiang John 364,000 -      364,000 -

   Mr. Chan Pee Teck Peter 364,000 -        364,000 -

    No options were granted to controlling shareholders of the company and their associates under the Share Option 
Scheme since the commencement of the Scheme.

  ii)  During the financial year, no employee received 5% or more of the total number of options, available under the 
Share Option Scheme and no shares were issued at a discount to market price.

  iii)  During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of any subsidiary were granted and there were no 
shares of any subsidiary issued by virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.

  iv) At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of any subsidiary under option.

6 AUDIt CoMMIttee

  The directors of Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd have adopted the principles of the Code of Corporate Governance as 
formulated by Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited with respect to Audit Committees.

 The Audit Committee comprises the following independent directors:

 Chairman : Mr. Lim Lee Meng
 Members : Mr. Lim Hwee Chiang John
    Mr. Chan Pee Teck Peter

 The Audit Committee performed the functions set out in the Singapore Companies Act.

RePoRt oF tHe DIReCtoRs
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6 AUDIt CoMMIttee (Cont’d)

 For the financial year ended December 31, 2008, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings and reviewed the following:

 i) the audit plans and results of the external auditors’ examination of the financial statements;

 ii)  the audit plans and results of out-sourced audit of internal controls and operations and evaluation of the group’s systems 
of internal accounting controls; 

 iii) the group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;

 iv)  the half-yearly and annual announcements as well as the related press releases on the results and financial position of the 
company and the group;

 v)  the financial statements of the company, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the external auditors’ 
report on those financial statements before their submission to the directors of the company;

 vi) the co-operation and assistance given by the management to the auditors;

 vii) the re-appointment of the auditors of the company; and

 viii) interested person transactions.

  The Audit Committee had full access to the auditors.  The Audit Committee also received co-operation from management and has 
been given the resources required for it to discharge its functions properly.

	 	The	Audit	Committee	has	recommended	to	the	Board	of	Directors	the	nomination	of	Deloitte	&	Touche	LLP	for	re-appointment	as	
auditors of the company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

7 AUDItoRs

	 The	auditors,	Deloitte	&	Touche	LLP,	have	expressed	their	willingness	to	accept	re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Chua Kee Seng Thomas

Ng Nai Ping

March 19, 2009

RePoRt oF tHe DIReCtoRs
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd (the “company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “group”) which comprise the balance sheets of the group and the company as at December 31, 2008, the profit and loss statement, 
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement of the group and the statement of changes in equity of the company for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 47 to 98.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the provisions of 
the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes: devising and 
maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the 
preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

INDePeNDeNt AUDItoRs’ RePoRt
TO THE MEMBERS OF TECKWAH INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION LTD
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opinion

In our opinion,

(a)  the consolidated financial statements of the group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the company are 
properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at December 31, 2008 and of the results, changes in equity 
and cash flows of the group and changes in equity of the company for the year ended on that date; and

(b)  the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the company and by those subsidiaries incorporated in 
Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore

March 19, 2009

INDePeNDeNt AUDItoRs’ RePoRt
TO THE MEMBERS OF TECKWAH INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION LTD
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   GRoUP CoMPANY
   Note 2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets

Current assets
Cash and bank balances 5 28,056     23,286 6,657    7,088
Trade receivables 6 30,924 30,396 14,426 12,063
Other receivables and prepayments 7 4,410 3,699 2,407 3,831
Inventories  8   14,916   17,767 -          -     

Total current assets    78,306   75,148 23,490 22,982

Non-current assets
Other assets  9 1,475 1,174 -      -     
Associates  10 34 180 -      -     
Joint venture  11 -      -      4,216 4,216
Subsidiaries  12 -      -      19,432 19,054
Property, plant and equipment 13 26,132 27,779 1,803 2,161
Land use rights  14 789 754 -      -     
Investment properties 15 1,112 1,168 -      -     
Intangible assets 16 484 861 134 145
Goodwill  17    6,691     7,829 -      -         

Total non-current assets    36,717   39,745 25,585 25,576

total assets   115,023 114,893 49,075 48,558

BALANCe sHeets
December 31, 2008

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E
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   GRoUP CoMPANY
   Note 2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

LIABILItIes AND eQUItY

Current liabilities
Bank loans and overdrafts 18 1,055         429 -         -     
Trade payables  19 13,211 14,632 306 546
Other payables  20 8,545 9,787 11,108 10,718
Income tax payable  3,083 2,761 240 254
Current portion of finance leases 21 37 121 37 37
Current portion of long-term bank loans 22       142        796 -      -      

Total current liabilities    26,073   28,526 11,691 11,555

Non-current liabilities
Finance leases  21 40 77 40 77
Long-term bank loans 22 164 316 -      -     
Deferred tax liabilities 23     1,173     1,895     135       57

Total non-current liabilities      1,377     2,288     175     134

Capital, reserves and minority interests
Share capital  24 23,852 23,852 23,852 23,852
Retained earnings  62,723 60,379 13,440 13,089
Currency translation reserves        842       (353)       (83) (72)

Attributable to equity holders of the company   87,417 83,878 37,209 36,869
Minority interests        156        201 -      -       

Total equity     87,573   84,079 37,209 36,869

total liabilities and equity  115,023 114,893 49,075 48,558

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

BALANCe sHeets
December 31, 2008
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    GRoUP
   Note 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

Revenue  25 158,031    158,102

Other operating income 26 364 646
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress  3,554 1,899
Raw materials and consumables used  (80,391) (76,553)
Employee benefits expense 27 (29,793) (29,761)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expense  (6,586) (5,913)
Other operating expenses  (39,615) (39,453)
Finance costs  28 (186) (159)
Share of loss of associates         (79) (166)

Profit before tax 29 5,299 8,642

Income tax expense 30   (1,124) (903)

Profit for the year     4,175    7,739

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the company  4,212 7,819

Minority interests         (37) (80)

       4,175    7,739

earnings per share 32

Basic     1.80 cents 3.37 cents

Diluted    1.80 cents 3.37 cents

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

CoNsoLIDAteD PRoFIt AND Loss stAteMeNt
Financial year ended December 31, 2008

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E
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Note
share
capital

Retained
earnings

Currency
translation

reserve

Attributable 
to equity 
holders of 

the company
Minority
interests total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

GRoUP

Balance at January 1, 2007 23,383 64,500 (337) 87,546 286 87,832

Issue of shares 24 469 -     -    469 -  469

Currency translation differences     -         -         (16)      (16)    (5)      (21)

Net income recognised directly in equity -     -     (16) (16) (5) (21)

Net profit for the year     -       7,819     -     7,819   (80)   7,739

Total recognised income and
   expense for the year -       7,819 (16) 7,803 (85) 7,718

Dividends paid 31     -     (11,940)    -    (11,940)   -  (11,940)

Balance at December 31, 2007 23,852 60,379 (353) 83,878 201 84,079

Currency translation differences     -         -     1,195   1,195   (8)   1,187

Net income recognised directly in equity -     -     1,195 1,195 (8)   1,187

Net profit for the year -     4,212 -    4,212 (37) 4,175

Total recognised income and
   expense for the year -     4,212 1,195 5,407 (45) 5,362

Dividends paid 31    -      (1,868)    -     (1,868)   -   (1,868)

Balance at December 31, 2008 23,852 62,723    842 87,417 156 87,573

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

stAteMeNts oF CHANGes IN eQUItY
Financial year ended December 31, 2008
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Note
share
capital

Retained
earnings

Currency
translation

reserve total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

CoMPANY

Balance at January 1, 2007 23,383 23,458 (33) 46,808

Issue of shares 24 469 -     -  469

Currency translation difference     -        -      (39)      (39)

Net income recognised directly in equity -    -    (39) (39)

Net profit for the year -     1,571 -  1,571

Total recognised income and expense for the year -     1,571 (39) 1,532

Dividends paid 31     -     (11,940)   -  (11,940)

Balance at December 31, 2007 23,852 13,089 (72) 36,869

Currency translation difference     -        -      (11)      (11)

Net income recognised directly in equity -     -     (11) (11)

Net profit for the year -     2,219 -  2,219

Total recognised income and expense for the year -     2,219 (11) 2,208

Dividends paid 31     -      (1,868)   -   (1,868)

Balance at December 31, 2008 23,852 13,440  (83) 37,209

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

stAteMeNts oF CHANGes IN eQUItY
Financial year ended December 31, 2008
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    2008 2007
   Note $’000 $’000

operating activities
 Profit before tax   5,299    8,642
 Adjustments for:
  Share of loss of associates  79 166
  Allowance for doubtful debts  68 77
  Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  74 147
  Depreciation and amortisation expense  5,222 4,932
  Amortisation of intangibles  270 374
  Gain on capital reduction of associate  (68) -     
  Loss (Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  21 (24)
  Impairment of goodwill  1,094 582
  Goodwill written off  -      25
  Gain on disposal of associate  (20) -     
  Gain on disposal of subsidiary 33 (4) -     
  Interest income  (204) (607)
  Finance costs  186      159

 Operating cash flows before movements in working capital   12,017 14,473
 
  Trade receivables  (596) 6,429
  Other receivables and prepayments  (1,012) (411)
  Inventories  2,851 (1,733)
  Trade payables  (1,421) (610)
  Other payables   (1,242)  (1,195)

 Cash generated from operations  10,597 16,953

 Interest paid  (186) (159)
 Income tax paid   (1,523)  (1,109)

Net cash from operating activities    8,888 15,685

Investing activities
 Interest received  204 607
 Proceeds from disposal of associate  86 -     
 Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary 33 4 -     
 Proceeds from capital reduction of associate  68 -     
 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  194 241
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (3,455)  (4,057)

Net cash used in investing activities   (2,899)  (3,209)

CoNsoLIDAteD CAsH FLoW stAteMeNt
Financial year ended December 31, 2008
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    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

Financing activities
 Proceeds from issue of shares  -             469
 Dividends paid  (1,868) (11,940)
 Repayments of long-term loans  (782) (1,272)
 Repayments of obligations under finance leases  (121) (277)
 New bank loans raised       574     429

Net cash used in financing activities   (2,197) (12,591)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  3,792 (115)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  23,286 23,496
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes       978 (95)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note A)  28,056 23,286

Notes:

A)  Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

  Cash at bank  19,612  13,307
  Fixed deposits  8,408 9,946
  Cash at hand        36       33

    28,056 23,286

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

CoNsoLIDAteD CAsH FLoW stAteMeNt
Financial year ended December 31, 2008
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1 GeNeRAL

  The company (Registration No. 197201105E) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with its principal place of business and 
registered office at 25 Pandan Crescent #05-15 TIC Tech Centre, Singapore 128477.  The company is listed on the mainboard of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.  The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.

 The principal activities of the company are those of investment holding and provision of management and financial services.

  The principal activities of the associates, joint venture and subsidiaries are disclosed in Notes 10, 11 and 12 respectively to the 
financial statements.

  The global financial and capital markets have experienced severe credit crunch and volatility. The group operates mainly in the 
Asia Pacific region, with significant exposures to customers in Singapore, People’s Republic of China and Indonesia.   The ability of 
the group to maintain operations and profitability and for its customers to pay their debts as they mature may be dependent to a 
large extent on the effectiveness of the fiscal measures and other actions, beyond their control, undertaken to achieve economic 
recovery.

  The group maintains considerable financial resources, together with long-term contracts with a number of customers and suppliers 
across diversified geographic areas.

  The management has a reasonable expectation that the group is well placed to manage its business risks successfully despite the 
current uncertain economic outlook.

  The management believes that the company and the group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.

  The consolidated financial statements of the group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the company for 
the year ended December 31, 2008 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on March 19, 2009.

2 sUMMARY oF sIGNIFICANt ACCoUNtING PoLICIes

  BASIS OF ACCOUNTING – The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except as 
disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act 
and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

	 	ADOPTION	OF	NEW	AND	REVISED	STANDARDS	––	In	the	current	financial	year,	the	group	has	adopted	all	the	new	and	revised	FRSs	
and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2008.  The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the group’s and company’s 
accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years.

  At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs that are relevant to the group and company were 
issued but not effective:

 FRS 1   – Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)
 FRS 23  – Borrowing Costs (Revised)
 FRS 108  – Operating Segments

 Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised standards. 

Notes to FINANCIAL stAteMeNts
December 31, 2008
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2 sUMMARY oF sIGNIFICANt ACCoUNtING PoLICIes (Cont’d)

  The management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs in future periods will not have a material impact on the financial 
statements of the group and of the company in the period of their initial adoption, except for the following:

 FRs 1 – Presentation of Financial statements (Revised)
  FRS 1 (Revised) will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009, and will change the basis for presentation 

and structure of the financial statements. It does not change the recognition, measurement or disclosure of specific transactions 
and other events required by other FRSs.

 FRs 23 – Borrowing Costs (Revised)
  FRS 23 (Revised) will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009 and eliminates the option available under 

the previous version of FRS 23 to recognise all borrowing costs immediately as an expense. An entity shall capitalise borrowing 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that 
asset. As the change in accounting policy is to be applied prospectively, there will be no impact on amounts reported for 2008.

 FRs 108 – operating segments
  FRS 108 will be effective for annual financial statements beginning on or after January 1, 2009 and supersedes FRS 14 – Segment 

Reporting. FRS 108 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group 
that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its 
performance. In contrast, FRS 14 requires an entity to identify two sets of segments (business and geographical), using a risks and 
rewards approach, with the entity’s ‘system of internal financial reporting to key management personnel’ serving only as the 
starting point for the identification of such segments. As a result, following the adoption of FRS 108, the identification of the 
Group’s reportable segments may change.

  BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION – The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company and 
entities controlled by the company (its subsidiaries).  Control is achieved where the company has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

  The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated profit and loss statement from 
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

  Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with 
those used by other members of the group.

 All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

  Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the group’s equity therein.  Minority 
interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination (see below) and the minority’s 
share of changes in equity since the date of the combination.  Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest 
in the subsidiary’s entity are allocated against the interests of the group except to the extent that the minority has a binding 
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover its share of those losses.

  In the company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries and the joint venture are carried at cost less any impairment in 
net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

  BUSINESS COMBINATIONS – The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method.  The cost of the acquisition 
is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and 
equity instruments issued by the group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business 
combination.  The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition 
under FRS 103 are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that 
are classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are 
recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell.

Notes to FINANCIAL stAteMeNts
December 31, 2008
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2 sUMMARY oF sIGNIFICANt ACCoUNtING PoLICIes (Cont’d)

  Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.  
If, after reassessment, the group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in the consolidated profit or loss.

  The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of the 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the group’s balance sheet when the group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 Financial assets

 Effective interest method

  The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating interest 
income or expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period.  Income and 
expense is recognised on an effective interest rate basis for debt instruments other than those financial instruments “at fair value 
through profit or loss”.

 Loans and receivables

  Loans and receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as “loans and 
receivables”. Trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment.  Interest 
is recognised by applying the effective interest method, except for short-term trade and other receivables where the recognition of 
interest would be immaterial.

 Impairment of financial assets

  Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date.  Financial assets are impaired where there 
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the 
estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.  For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount 
of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

  The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception 
of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.  When a trade receivable is 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
to profit or loss.  Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

 Derecognition of financial assets

  The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers 
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the group neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the 
group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the group retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the group continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Notes to FINANCIAL stAteMeNts
December 31, 2008
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2 sUMMARY oF sIGNIFICANt ACCoUNtING PoLICIes (Cont’d)

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

 Classification as debt or equity

  Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the group are classified according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 

 Equity instruments

  An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its 
liabilities.  Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

 Bank borrowings

  Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest method.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or 
redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the group’s accounting policy for 
borrowing costs (see below).

  Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and subsequently at the higher of the amount 
recognised as a provision and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.

 Trade and other payables

  Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method except for short-term balances when the recognition of interests would be immaterial.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities

  The group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they 
expire.

  LEASES – Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

 The group as lessee

  Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, 
at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a 
finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss, 
unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the group’s general 
policy on borrowing costs (see below).  Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

  Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease 
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed.  Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.
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  In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.  The 
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

	 	INVENTORIES	–	Inventories	are	stated	at	the	lower	of	cost	and	net	realisable	value.		Cost	comprises	direct	materials	and,	where	
applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition.  Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.  Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price 
less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost or revaluation, less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment loss where the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be lower than its carrying 
amount.

  Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the 
following bases:

 Leasehold land     – 1%
 Leasehold buildings    – 1% to 20%
 Plant and machinery    – 10% to 20%
 Office equipment, furniture and fittings  – 10% to 331/3%
 Motor vehicles     – 18% to 20%

  The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes 
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

  Assets held under finance leases arrangements are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets 
or, if there is no certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset shall be fully depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

 Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

  The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in the profit or loss.

	 	INVESTMENT	PROPERTY	–	Investment	property,	which	is	property	held	to	earn	rentals	and/or	for	capital	appreciation,	is	measured	
initially at its cost, including transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is measured at fair 
value.  Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in 
which they arise.

  GOODWILL – Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity represents the excess of the cost 
of acquisition over the group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the 
subsidiary or jointly controlled entity recognised at the date of acquisition.  Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and 
is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

  For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination.  Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.  If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each 
asset in the unit.  An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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  On disposal of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of 
the profit or loss on disposal.

 The group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described under ‘Associates’ below.

 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 Intangible assets acquired separately

  Intangible assets acquired separately are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.  Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.  The 
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.  Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised. 
Each period, the useful lives of such assets are reviewed to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an 
indefinite useful life assessment for the asset.  Such assets are tested for impairment in accordance with the policy below.

 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

  Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill where they satisfy 
the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values can be measured reliably.  The cost of such intangible assets is their fair 
value at the acquisition date. 

  Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

  Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually, and 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

 The amortisation periods for the intangible assets are as follows:

 Country club memberships (Note 16) – 30 years
 Approved replicator rights (Note 16) – 5 years

  IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL – At each balance sheet date, the group reviews the 
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill to determine whether there is any indication that those 
assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

  Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

  If the recoverable amount of an asset (cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the 
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
decrease.
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  Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years.  
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

  ASSOCIATES – An associate is an entity over which the company has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an 
interest in a joint venture.  Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 
investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

  The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of 
accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for under FRS 105 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.  Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in 
the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the company’s share of the net assets of the 
associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments.  Losses of an associate in excess of the company’s interest 
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the company’s net investment in the 
associate) are not recognised.

  Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill.  The goodwill is included within the 
carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment.  Any excess of the group’s share of 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

  Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the group’s 
interest in the relevant associate. 

	 	JOINT	VENTURE	–	A	 joint	venture	 is	a	contractual	arrangement	whereby	the	group	and	other	parties	undertake	an	economic	
activity that is subject to joint control, that is when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activities 
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

  Where a group entity undertakes its activities under joint venture arrangements directly, the group’s share of jointly controlled 
assets and any liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers are recognised in the financial statements of the relevant entity and 
classified according to their nature. Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in respect of interests in jointly controlled assets are 
accounted for on an accrual basis.  Income from the sale or use of the group’s share of the output of jointly controlled assets, and 
its share of joint venture expenses, are recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transactions 
will flow to/from the group and their amount can be measured reliably.

  Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer has an interest are referred 
to as jointly controlled entities.  The group reports its interests in jointly controlled entities using proportionate consolidation, 
except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for under FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held 
for Sale and Discontinued Operations.  The group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of jointly controlled entities 
are combined with the equivalent items in the consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis.

  Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in accordance with the 
group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary (see above).

  Where the group transacts with its jointly controlled entities, unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the 
group’s interest in the joint venture. 
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	 	PROVISIONS	–	Provisions	are	recognised	when	the	group	has	a	present	obligation	(legal	or	constructive)	as	a	result	of	a	past	event,	
it is probable that the group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

  The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 
balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  Where a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

  When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable 
can be measured reliably.

  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS – The group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees.  Equity-settled share-
based payments are measured at fair value of the shares (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date 
of grant.  The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period, based on the group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non 
market-based vesting conditions.

	 	REVENUE	RECOGNITION	–	Revenue	is	measured	at	the	fair	value	of	the	consideration	received	or	receivable.		Revenue	is	reduced	
for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

 Sale of goods

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

	 •	 the	group	has	transferred	to	the	buyer	the	significant	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	of	the	goods;

	 •	 	the	 group	 retains	 neither	 continuing	 managerial	 involvement	 to	 the	 degree	 usually	 associated	 with	 ownership	 nor	
effective control over the goods sold;

	 •	 	the	amount	of	revenue	can	be	measured	reliably;

	 •	 	it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	transaction	will	flow	to	the	entity;	and

	 •	 	the	costs	incurred	or	to	be	incurred	in	respect	of	the	transaction	can	be	measured	reliably.

 Rendering of services

  Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract.  The stage of 
completion of the contract is determined based on the contractual hours delivered and direct expenses incurred or other measures 
of completion as provided for in the contractual terms.

 Rental income

 Rental income related to the logistic business is recognised on a time proportionate basis.

 Interest income

 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.
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  BORROWING COSTS – Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost 
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.  Investment income earned on 
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing 
costs eligible for capitalisation.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

  RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS – Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall 
due.  Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with 
as payments to defined contribution plans where the group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a 
defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

	 	EMPLOYEE	LEAVE	ENTITLEMENT	–	Employee	entitlements	 to	annual	 leave	are	recognised	when	they	accrue	to	employees.	 	A	
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet 
date.

 INCOME TAX – Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

  The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.  Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the profit and 
loss statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes 
items that are not taxable or tax deductible.  The group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the company and subsidiaries operate by the balance sheet date.

  Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability 
method.  Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised.  Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable 
profit nor the accounting profit.

  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and 
interests in joint ventures, except where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

  Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset realized 
based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.  Deferred tax 
is charged or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the group intends to settle its current 
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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  Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to items credited or 
debited directly to equity, in which case the tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where they arise from the initial accounting 
for a business combination.  In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or 
determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities over cost.

  FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION – The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented 
in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).  The consolidated 
financial statements of the group and the balance sheet of the company are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional 
currency of the company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

  In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency 
are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.  At each balance sheet date, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date.  Non-monetary items carried 
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value 
was determined.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are included in profit 
or loss for the period.  Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included 
in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains 
and losses are recognised directly in equity.  For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also 
recognised directly in equity.

  For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign operations 
(including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income 
and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates 
fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.  Exchange 
differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the group’s translation reserve.  Such translation differences 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

  On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities (including monetary 
items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of borrowings and other currency instruments 
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to the currency translation reserve.

  Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

	 	CASH	 AND	 CASH	 EQUIVALENTS	 –	 Cash	 and	 cash	 equivalents	 comprise	 cash	 on	 hand	 and	 demand	 deposits,	 bank	 overdrafts,	
and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.
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 KeY soURCes oF estIMAtIoN UNCeRtAINtY

  In the application of the group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

  The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

  Certain key assumptions and sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that may have a significant risk of causing 
an adjustment to the financial statements within the next financial year are discussed below. 

 Recoverability of acquired intangible asset

  In 2005, management recognised separately an intangible asset relating to approved replicator rights, upon acquisition of certain 
assets by an Australian subsidiary of $1,300,000 (Note 16).  In performing the impairment review of the intangible asset, the 
entity estimates future cash flows and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate fair value of the asset.  In determining future 
cash flows, management has exercised judgement in projecting revenue that can be derived from and expenses which would be 
incurred by the Australian subsidiary in relation to the business associated with the intangible asset.

 Impairment of acquired goodwill

  The group performs an impairment review to ensure that the carrying value of the goodwill amounting to $ 6,691,000 (2007 : 
$7,829,000) does not exceed its recoverable amount from the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated.  The 
value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit 
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.  In determining the recoverable amount, management exercised 
judgement in estimating future cash flows, growth rates and discount rates.

 An impairment loss of $1,353,000 (2007: $586,000) has been recognised.

 Impairment of investment in subsidiaries and associates

  The company performs an impairment review to ensure that the carrying values of the investments in subsidiaries and associates 
do not exceed the recoverable amounts.

  The recoverable amounts of the investments require the entity to estimate future cash flows and a suitable discount rate.  
Management exercised judgement in determining the discount rates, estimates of future cash flows and other factors used in the 
valuation process.
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  The group’s overall risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the 
group.

 a) Categories of financial instruments

  The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the balance sheet date:

   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  Financial Assets

  Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 60,258 54,921 22,777 22,201

  Financial Liabilities

  Amortised cost  23,194 26,158 11,491 11,378

 b) Financial risk management policies and objectives

  i) Foreign exchange risk management

   The group transacts business in various foreign currencies.

    The carrying amounts of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting 
date are as follows:

   GRoUP CoMPANY
   Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets
   2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

   Australian dollar 49 152 138 1 - - - -    
   Canadian dollar - - 36 11 - - - -    
   Hong Kong dollar 508 596 43 43 - - - -    
   Rupiah     72 46 688 877 - - - -    
   Japanese Yen - - 112 191 - - 51 41
   Korean Won 34 40 146 196 - - - -    
   New Taiwan dollar - 441 907 1,189 - 441     907 1,225
   New Zealand dollar - 5 41 140 - - - -    
   Peso 4 8 - - - - - -    
   Renminbi - 33 6 6 523 270 921     1,018
   Ringgit - 2 - - - - - -    
   Singapore dollar 493 608 2,649 3,187 - - - -    
   Thailand baht - - - - - - 3 6
   United States dollar 2,277 2,707 15,656 13,191 - - 2,282 2,043 
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 b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

  i) Foreign exchange risk management (Cont’d)

    The group’s foreign currency exposures arise mainly from the exchange rate movements of the U.S. dollar relative 
to the Singapore dollar.  Natural hedges are used to manage some of these risks.  The group generally does not 
use financial derivative contracts to manage foreign exchange risks.

   Foreign currency sensitivity

    The following table details the sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in the Singapore dollar against the 
relevant foreign currencies.  5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange 
rates.  The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts 
their transaction at the period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.  The sensitivity analysis includes 
external loans.

    If the Singapore dollar strengthens by 5% against the relevant foreign currency, profit or loss will increase 
(decrease) by:

 
   GRoUP CoMPANY
   Profit or loss Profit or loss
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

   Australian dollar  (4) 8 -   -  
   Canadian dollar  (2) (1) -   -  
   Euro  -  (1) -   -  
   Hong Kong dollar  23 28 -   -  
   Rupiah  (30) (40) -   -  
   Japanese Yen  (6) (10) (2)   (2)
   Korean Won  (6) (8) -   -  
   New Taiwan dollar  (45) (37) (45) (37)
   New Zealand dollar  (2) (7) -   -  
   Peso  -   1 -   -  
   Renminbi  -   2 (20)   (38)
   Thailand Baht    -     -     -     -  
   United States dollar  (669) (524)   (114) (104)
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 b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

  i) Foreign exchange risk management (Cont’d)

    If the Singapore dollar weakens by 5% against the relevant foreign currency, profit or loss will increase (decrease) 
by:

   GRoUP CoMPANY
   Profit or loss Profit or loss
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

   Australian dollar  4 (8) -   -  
   Canadian dollar  2 1 -   -  
   Euro  -   1 -   -  
   Hong Kong dollar  (23) (28) -   -  
   Rupiah  30 40 -   -  
   Japanese Yen  6 10 2  2
   Korean Won  6 8 -   -  
   New Taiwan dollar  45 37 45 37
   New Zealand dollar  2 7 -   -  
   Peso  -   (1) -   -  
   Renminbi  -   (2) 20  38
   Thailand Baht    -     -     -     -  
   United States dollar  669 524     114 104

  ii) Interest rate risk

    The group is exposed to the effect of changes in interest rates attributable to interest-earning cash balances and 
interest-bearing loans, most of which are at variable rates.  Interest rates on finance lease obligations are fixed 
for the duration of the lease, typically for 3 to 5 years.  The group does not use financial derivative instruments to 
hedge interest rate risks.

    The company’s profit and loss is not affected by changes in interest rates as the interest bearing Liability carry fixed 
interest and is measured at amortised cost.

   Interest rate sensitivity

    The management is of the opinion that fluctuations in interest rates do not have a significant impact on the 
group’s and company’s profit for the year ended December 31, 2008 and other equity reserves.

  iii) Credit risk

    The group’s principal financial assets consist of bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables, finance lease 
receivables and investments.

   Cash and bank balances are held with creditworthy financial institutions.

    The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables.  The amounts presented in the balance 
sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables.  An allowance for impairment is made where there is an 
identified loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the 
cash flows.
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4 FINANCIAL RIsKs AND MANAGeMeNt (Cont’d)

 b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

  iii) Credit risk (Cont’d)

    The group manages such risks by dealing with creditworthy customers.  The largest customer of the group accounts 
for approximately 14% (2007 : 11%) of revenue.  Other than this customer, there is no significant concentration of 
credit given to any single customer or group of customers.  Credit risk is managed by a credit evaluation process 
which includes assessment and evaluation of existing and potential customers’ credit standing to determine 
credit limits to be granted, credit policies, credit control and collection procedures.  Payments are monitored for 
compliance with credit terms.

    The maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparties fail to perform the obligations as at the 
end of the financial year in relation to each class of financial assets is the carrying amounts of these assets in the 
balance sheet.

  iv) Liquidity risk

   The group has adequate cash and credit facilities for its operating requirements. The contractual maturity for the  
    non-derivative financial liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to the financial statements.

  v) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

    The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and payables and other 
liabilities approximate their fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

    The fair value of other classes of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to the financial 
statements.

 c) Capital risk management policies and objectives

   The group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to 
stakeholders through the optimisation of debt and equity balance.

   The capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes short-term bank loans, cash and cash equivalents and 
equity attributable to equity holders comprising issued capital, reserves and accumulated profits.

  The group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2007.

5 CAsH AND BANK BALANCes

   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Cash at bank  19,612  13,307 1,658  1,535
 Fixed deposits  8,408 9,946 4,997 5,550
 Cash on hand        36       33       2       3

    28,056 23,286 6,657 7,088
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5 CAsH AND BANK BALANCes (Cont’d)

  Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the group and short-term fixed deposits with an original maturity of three months 
or less.  The carrying amounts of these assets approximate their fair values.

  Short-term fixed deposits earn interest at rates ranging from 0.3% to 7.35% (2007 : 0.82% to 8%) per annum for a tenure ranging 
from 7 to 365 days (2007 : 1 to 365 days).

  The group and company’s cash and bank balances that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities 
are as follows:

   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 United States dollar  7,446   3,789 34  119
 Singapore dollar  1,460 612 - -  
 New Taiwan dollar  904 666 904 666
 Rupiah   68 100 - -  
 Hong Kong dollar  16 16 - -  
 Australian dollar  138 1 - -  
 Renminbi         6        6    6    6

6 tRADe ReCeIVABLes
   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Outside parties  31,254 30,758 13 352
 Allowance for doubtful debts     (489)    (575)     -          -     

    30,765 30,183 13 352
 Joint venture (Note 11)  159 213 308 311
 Subsidiaries (Note 12)      -          -      14,105 11,400

 Total   30,924 30,396 14,426 12,063

  The average credit period on sales of goods is 30 to 60 days (2007 : 30 to 60 days).  No interest is charged on the trade receivables 
on the outstanding balance.  Allowance for doubtful debts is determined by reference to past default experience.

  Included in the group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $8.4 million (2007 : $9.3 million) which are 
past due at the reporting date for which the group has not provided as the amounts are still considered recoverable.  The group 
does not hold any collateral over these balances.  The breakdown of these receivables is as follows:

   1 - 30 days 31 - 60 days 61 – 90 days >90 days
     overdue      overdue       overdue      overdue   total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 GRoUP

 2008  6,002 1,161 687 576 8,426

 2007  6,168 1,785 603 750 9,306
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6 tRADe ReCeIVABLes (Cont’d)

  In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivables 
from the date credit was initially granted to up to the reporting date. Except as disclosed in Note 4(b)(iii), the concentration of 
credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.

  Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are specific trade receivables amounting to $68,000 (2007 : $77,000) owing from a 
debtor which has been placed under liquidation.

 Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Balance at beginning of the year  575 542
 Amounts written off during the year  (134) (37)
 Increase in allowance recognised in the profit and loss statement  68 77
 Exchange difference   (20) (7)

 Balance at end of the year  489 575

  The group and company’s trade receivables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities are as follows:

   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 United States dollar  8,066 9,258 2,248 1,866
 Singapore dollar  1,189 2,277 -      -     
 Korean won  146 47 -      -     
 New Taiwan dollar  - 348 -      384
 Japanese yen  112 191 51 41
 New Zealand dollar  41   140 -      -     
 Rupiah   620 516 -      -     
 Thailand Baht  - -      3 6
 Canadian dollar        36        11     -     -     
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Notes to FINANCIAL stAteMeNts
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7 otHeR ReCeIVABLes AND PRePAYMeNts

   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Associates (Note 10)  -     152 -     -    
 Subsidiaries (Note 12)  -     -     1,332 2,565
 Joint venture (Note 11)  -     5 -     -    
 Other receivables  366 246 3 5
 Deposits  912 836 359 480
 Prepayments  3,064 2,460 713 781
 Income tax recoverable      68    -    -    -    

 Total   4,410 3,699 2,407 3,831

  The group and company’s other receivables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities are as 
follows:

   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Korean won  -     149 -     -    
 Singapore dollar  -     298 -     -    
 United States dollar  144 144 -     58
 New Taiwan dollar  3     175 3 175
 Hong Kong dollar  27 27 -     -    
 Rupiah   -     261 -     -    
 Renminbi     -        -        915 1,012

8 INVeNtoRIes

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Finished goods  3,986 3,423
 Work-in-progress  705 482
 Raw materials  10,225 13,862

 Total   14,916 17,767

  Due to the change of product version and increase of non-moving stock, the group has provided additional provision of $404,000 
(2007 : reversal of $305,000) to the current year profit and loss statement. 
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Notes to FINANCIAL stAteMeNts
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9 otHeR Assets

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Deposits  430 294
 Tax recoverable  1,045    880

 Total   1,475 1,174

10 AssoCIAtes

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Cost of investment in associates  1 138
 Share of post-acquisition accumulated profits  33   42

 Carrying value  34 180

 The details of the group’s associates at December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Name of associate
Principal activities/Country of
  incorporation and operation  

Proportion of ownership 
interest/voting power held

2008 2007
% %

Unicon	Management	& Management and consultancy services/ 45.1 45.1
Consultants (S) Pte Ltd Singapore

Teckwah	Value	Chain Provision of value chain management services/ - 30
(Korea) Co., Ltd Republic of Korea

 During the year, group entities entered into the following trading transactions with associates:

   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Purchase of goods and services  221 539   -     -  

 The amounts due to/from associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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10 AssoCIAtes (Cont’d)

 Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s associates is set out below:

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Total assets  106 1,264
 Total liabilities  (30) (591)

 Net assets    76    673

 Group’s share of associates’ net assets    34    180

 Revenue  937 2,825

 Loss for the year   (191) (567)

 Group’s share of associates’ loss for the year   (79) (166)

11 JoINt VeNtURe

    CoMPANY
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Unquoted equity shares, at cost  4,216 4,216

 The details of the joint venture are as follows:

Name of joint venture
Principal activities/Country of
  incorporation and operation  

effective equity interest/
voting power held by group

2008 2007
% %

PPH	Teckwah	Value Investment holding and provision of management 50 50
Chain Sdn Bhd (a) services/ Malaysia

 (a) Audited by an overseas practice of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

 The amounts due to/from the joint venture are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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11 JoINt VeNtURe (Cont’d)

  The following amounts are included in the financial statements of the group as a result of proportionate consolidation of the joint 
venture.

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Current assets  2,893 3,241
 Non-current assets  4,304 4,911
 Current liabilities  (956) (1,101)
 Non-current liabilities    (349) (954)

 Net assets  5,892 6,097

 Revenue  7,116 6,713
 Expenses  (7,053) (7,091)

 Profit (Loss) before income tax  63 (378)
 Income tax       24      67

 Profit (Loss) after income tax       87 (311)

12 sUBsIDIARIes
    CoMPANY
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Unquoted equity shares, at cost  23,045 23,045
 Deemed investment  1,841 1,463
 Less:  Impairment loss   (5,454)  (5,454)

    19,432 19,054

 The details of the company’s subsidiaries at December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary
Principal activities/Country of incorporation
(or registration) and operation

Proportion of
ownership interest

and voting power held
2008 2007

% %

TIC Capital Pte Ltd (d) Investment holding and provision of (d) 100
management services/ 
Singapore

Teckwah	Value	Chain	Pte	Ltd Investment holding; manufacturer of paper products and 100 100
importer, exporter of paper and paper products;
provision of value chain management services and
graphic design/ 
Singapore
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12 sUBsIDIARIes (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiary
Principal activities/Country of incorporation
(or registration) and operation

Proportion of
ownership interest

and voting power held
2008 2007

% %

Techwave Media Services Provision of value chain management services/ 100 100
Pte Ltd Singapore

Teckwah Logistics Pte Ltd Provision of third party logistic services/ 100 100
Singapore

Teckwah Online Pte Ltd Provision of network services including on-line games 100 100
and distribution of games software/
Singapore

P.T. Teckwah Paper Products Manufacture and sales of corrugated boxes/ 100 100
Indonesia (a) Indonesia

Wuxi Teckwah Printing Manufacture of flexible packing and printing materials/ 100 100
&	Packaging	Co.,	Ltd	(b)(i) People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)

Teckwah	Value	Chain	(Shanghai) Provision of value chain management services/ 100 100
Co., Ltd (b)(i) PRC

Teckwah Packaging Systems Provision of value chain management services/ 100 100
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd (b)(i) PRC

Teckwah Packaging Systems Provision of value chain management services/ 100 100
(Suzhou) Co., Ltd (b)(i) PRC

Teckwah Packaging Systems Provision of value chain management services/ 100 100
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (b)(i) PRC

Teckwah	Value	Chain	(Thailand) Provision of value chain management services/ 49 49
Co., Ltd (b)(ii), (c) Thailand

Teckwah	Value	Chain	(Japan) Provision of value chain management services/ 70 70
Co. Ltd (b)(iii) Japan

JNE Logistics Singapore Critical parts management/ 100 100
Pte Ltd Singapore

Teckwah	Value	Chain Provision of value chain management services/ 100 100
Pty Ltd (b)(iv) Australia

Teckwah Logistics (India) Provision of third party logistic services/ 100 100
Private Limited (b)(vii) India
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12 sUBsIDIARIes (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiary
Principal activities/Country of incorporation
(or registration) and operation

Proportion of
ownership interest

and voting power held
2008 2007

% %

Teckwah Trading (HK) Provision of third party logistic services/ 100 100
Limited (b)(v) PRC

Teckwah Trading (Shanghai) Provision of third party logistic services/ 100 100
Co., Ltd (b)(i) PRC

Teckwah Online Shanghai Provision of network services including - 100
Co., Ltd (f) on-line games and distribution of

games software/
PRC

Singapore Print Media Hub Investment	holding	&	manufacturing 100 100
Pte. Ltd (e) of packaging solutions/

Singapore

Teckwah	Value	Chain	(Taiwan) Provision of third party logistic and  100 -
Ltd (b)(vi), (g) value chain management services/

Taiwan

	 The	above	subsidiaries	are	audited	by	Deloitte	&	Touche	LLP,	Singapore	except	as	indicated	below:

 (a) These subsidiaries are audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

 (b) The subsidiaries are audited by another firm of auditors as follows:

  (i) Shu Lun Pan CPA Co.,Ltd.
  (ii) S.K. Accountant Services Company Limited
  (iii) Iwata Accounting Office
  (iv) William Buck (NSW) Pty Ltd
  (v) Tai Kong CPA Limited Certified Public Accountants
	 	 (vi)	 Wang	&	Tang	Certified	Public	Accountants
	 	 (vii)	 Sudit	K	Parekh	&	Co

 (c)  Although the group does not own more than 50% of the equity shares, it has the contractual right to appoint the majority of the board of 
directors.		Control	of	the	entity	is	exercised	by	the	board	of	directors.		Consequently,	Teckwah	Value	Chain	(Thailand)	Co.,	Ltd	is	controlled	by	the	
group and is consolidated in these financial statements.

 (d) Under voluntary liquidation.

 (e) The company is dormant and not audited since incorporation.

 (f) Teckwah Online Shanghai Co., Ltd was disposed during the year. (Note 33)

	 (g)	 Teckwah	Value	Chain	(Taiwan)	Ltd	was	incorporated	during	the	year.

 The amounts due to/from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and payable on demand.
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13 PRoPeRtY, PLANt AND eQUIPMeNt

      office
      equipment,
   Leasehold Leasehold Plant and furniture Motor
   land buildings machinery and fittings vehicles total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 GRoUP

 Cost:
    At January 1, 2007 368 4,877 55,378 10,803 1,032 72,458
    Currency realignment -   (67) (153) (64) (9) (293)
    Additions -   653 1,803 1,494 107 4,057
    Disposals -   (76) (627) (366) (38) (1,107)
    Reclassification (368) 1,934  (3,345)   1,548    -     (231)

    At December 31, 2007 -   7,321 53,056 13,415 1,092 74,884
    Currency realignment -   194 596 106 17 913
    Additions -   1,092 1,043 1,235 85 3,455
    Disposals -   (191) (244) (550) (76) (1,061)
    Reclassification to land use rights   -      (35)     -          -         -     (35)

    At December 31, 2008   -   8,381 54,451 14,206 1,118 78,156

 Accumulated depreciation:
    At January 1, 2007 114 1,389 33,794 7,383 563 43,243
    Currency realignment -   (15) (187) (55) 5 (252)
    Charge for the financial year -   370 3,403 1,016 125 4,914
    Disposals -   (42) (521) (295) (32) (890)
    Reclassification (114)    530  (2,753)   2,106    -     (231)

    At December 31, 2007 -   2,232 33,736 10,155 661 46,784
    Currency realignment -   68 369 52 7 496
    Charge for the financial year -   617 3,238 1,216 133 5,204
    Disposals -   (169) (155) (449) (73) (846)
    Reclassification to land use rights   -        (9)     -          -         -     (9)

    At December 31, 2008   -   2,739 37,188 10,974    728 51,629

 Impairment loss:
    At January 1, 2007 -   -     168 7 -     175
    Charge for the year (1) -   -     147 -      -     147
    Disposals   -      -         -             (1)    -    (1)

    At December 31, 2007 -   -     315 6 -     321
    Charge for the year (1)   -      -            74     -         -           74

    At December 31, 2008   -      -          389          6    -          395

 Carrying amount:
    At December 31, 2008   -   5,642 16,874   3,226    390 26,132

    At December 31, 2007   -   5,089 19,005   3,254    431 27,779

 (1) Impairment loss was recognised on certain fixed assets which were previously deployed for a project that has ceased in the current year.
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13 PRoPeRtY, PLANt AND eQUIPMeNt (Cont’d)

  The carrying amount of the group’s property, plant and machinery includes $1,167,000 (2007: $2,040,000) pledged to secure 
certain banking facilities (Note 18).

     office
     equipment,
   Leasehold Plant and furniture Motor
   buildings machinery and fittings vehicles total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 CoMPANY

 Cost:
    At January 1, 2007 856 126 3,608 357 4,947
    Currency realignment -     -   (2) -   (2)
    Transfer (1) -     -   34 -   34
    Additions 317 -   735 -   1,052
    Disposals    -       -      (46)   -   (46)

    At December 31, 2007 1,173 126 4,329 357 5,985
    Currency realignment -     -   (1) -   (1)
    Transfer (1) -     -   (25) -   (25)
    Additions 27 -   306 -   333
    Disposals    (11)   -     (172)   -   (183)

    At December 31, 2008 1,189 126 4,437 357 6,109

 Accumulated depreciation:
    At January 1, 2007 277 106 2,871 67 3,321
    Currency realignment -     -   (1) -   (1)
    Transfer (1) -     -   20 -   20
    Charge for the financial year 109 12 336 71 528
    Disposals    -       -       (44)   -   (44)

    At December 31, 2007    386 118 3,182 138 3,824
    Currency realignment -     -   (1) -   (1)
    Transfer (1) -     -   (4) -   (4)
    Charge for the financial year 147 6 401 72 626
    Disposals    -       -     (139)   -   (139)

    At December 31, 2008    533 124 3,439 210 4,306

 Carrying amount:
    At December 31, 2008    656 2    998 147 1,803

    At December 31, 2007    787    8 1,147 219 2,161

 (1) This pertains to transfer of plant and equipment from (to) subsidiaries.
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13 PRoPeRtY, PLANt AND eQUIPMeNt (Cont’d)

 The net book values of property, plant and equipment acquired under finance lease are as follows:

   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Plant and machinery  -   595 -   -  
 Motor vehicles  109 218 109 218

14 LAND Use RIGHts
    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Cost:
    At beginning of year  1,044 1,041
    Reclass from property, plant and equipment  35 -    
    Exchange difference       46       3

    At end of year  1,125 1,044

 Accumulated amortisation:
    At beginning of year  290 272
    Reclass from property, plant and equipment  9 -    
    Amortisation for the year  18 17
    Exchange difference       19        1

    At end of year     336    290

 Net book value:
    At end of year     789    754

  The land use rights relate to the lease of a parcel of lands for the group’s factory and office buildings located at Jiangsu Province, 
Xishan City Dang Kou Town, People Republic of China and Alor Gajah Malacca, Malaysia.  The lease will expire in year 2053, 2088 
and 2089 respectively and the Group does not have an option to purchase the land upon expiry of the right period.

15 INVestMeNt PRoPeRtIes
    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 At fair value

 At beginning of year  1,168 1,168
 Exchange difference     (56)    -    

 At end of year  1,112 1,168
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15 INVestMeNt PRoPeRtIes (Cont’d)

  Investment properties of the group consist of freehold land and factory building and a leasehold land located in Tebrau, Johor 
Bahru.  The land and building of Malaysia joint venture carried at valuation were revalued on October 14, 2008 (2007 : November 
14, 2007) by Messrs. Henry Butcher Malaysia (Johor) Sdn. Bhd., an independent firm of professional valuers.  The valuation was 
arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices of similar properties.

  Investment properties are leased to outside parties.  Rental income from the group’s investment property all of which are leased 
out under operating leases, amounted to $241,000 (2007: $57,000). Maintenance charges arising from the rental-generating 
properties amounted to $12,000 (2007: $17,000).

16 INtANGIBLe Assets
    GRoUP  CoMPANY
    Approved
   Country club replicator  Country club
   memberships rights total memberships total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Costs:
    At January 1, 2007 341 1,296 1,637 341 341
    Currency realignment   -        57      57   -     -  

    At December 31, 2007 341 1,353 1,694 341 341
    Currency realignment   -   (291)   (291)   -     -  

    At December 31, 2008 341 1,062 1,403 341 341

 Amortisation:
    At January 1, 2007 186 259 445 186 186
    Currency realignment -   14 14 -   -  
    Amortisation for the year   10    364    374   10   10

    At December 31, 2007 196    637    833 196 196
    Currency realignment -   (184) (184) -   -  
    Amortisation for the year   11    259    270   11   11

    At December 31, 2008 207    712    919 207 207

 Carrying amount:
    At December 31, 2008 134    350    484 134 134

    At December 31, 2007 145    716    861 145 145

  The approved replicator rights comprise the right to manufacture software products for a major software multinational corporation. 
It is subject to annual renewal without obligation to make additional payments.

 The cost of the approved replicator rights is amortised over 5 years commencing in 2006.

  The group tests intangible assets annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that the intangible assets might 
be impaired.  In performing the impairment assessment for 2008, revenue is projected to decline by 29% for the financial year ending 
December 31, 2009 and remain flat thereafter until Year 2013.  The discount rate for computing the net present value of future cash 
flows is 10%. The carrying amount as at December 31, 2008 does not vary significantly from the net recoverable amount. 

 During 2007, an impairment charge of $95,000 was recorded and reflected as part of amortisation expense for the year.
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17 GooDWILL

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Cost:  
    At beginning of year  8,415 8,368
    Goodwill written off  -     (25)
    Exchange difference    (371)      72

    At end of year  8,044 8,415

 Impairment:
    At beginning of year  586 582
    Charge for the year  1,094 -    
    Exchange difference    (327)        4

    At end of year  1,353    586

 Carrying amount:
    At December 31  6,691 7,829

  Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) that are expected to 
benefit from that business combination.  The carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Business segment

 Print   -     1,138
 Non-print  6,691 6,691

    6,691 7,829

  The goodwill allocated to the non-print business arose from the acquisition of JNE Logistics Singapore Pte Ltd, over a period from 
2004 to 2006. 

	 The	goodwill	allocated	to	the	print	business	arose	from	the	acquisition	of	Teckwah	Value	Chain	Pty	Ltd	in	2005.	

 The group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. 

  The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined using discounted cash flow projections. The key assumptions for the 
calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and direct costs during the period.  Management estimates 
discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
CGUs.  The growth rates are based on business trends.  Changes in direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of 
future changes in the market.

  The group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management for the first year 
of projection and extrapolates cash flows for the following four years based on estimated average growth rates.
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17 GooDWILL (Cont’d)

  For the non-print business, the growth rate is projected at 10% per annum for the next two years, and at 5% per annum for 
the third to fifth years (2007 : 10% per annum for the first 3 years and 5% per annum for the fourth and fifth years). The net 
recoverable amount is estimated to exceed the carrying amount as at December 31, 2008 and therefore, no impairment loss has 
been recorded.

  For the print business acquired by an Australian subsidiary, the revenue is projected to decline by 29% in the next year and remain 
flat for the four years thereafter (2007 : growth rate is 6% per annum for the first 3 years and at 8% per annum for the fourth and 
fifth years). The carrying amount of goodwill is estimated to exceed the net recoverable amount and has therefore been written 
off through recognition of an impairment loss of $1,094,000 (2007 : $Nil).

 The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 10% (2007 : 10%).

18 BANK LoANs AND oVeRDRAFts

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Trust receipts  -     34
 Short-term bank loan  1,055 395

    1,055 429

 a)  Included in the above balance for 2007 were trust receipts of the joint venture amounting to $34,000, which bore interest 
at rates ranging from 7.75% to 8.25% per annum.  These credit facilities were covered by the following:

  i) a corporate guarantee by the joint venture and the company; and

  ii) a negative pledge over all the current and future assets.

 b)  The bank loan is guaranteed by the company and bears interest at rates ranging from 5.6% to 7.227% (2007 : 6.48%) per 
annum.

 The group’s borrowings were denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities.

  Trust receipts were repayable on demand and have a maturity of three months.  The management estimated that the fair values 
of the group’s borrowings approximated their carrying amounts.

 Certain bank borrowings of the group are secured against certain fixed assets as disclosed in Note 13.
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19 tRADe PAYABLes

   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Associates (Note 10)  -      101 -   -  
 Joint venture (Note 11)  97 101 2 -  
 Outside parties  13,114 14,430 304 546

    13,211 14,632 306 546

 Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs.

  The average credit period on purchases of goods is 60 to 90 days (2007 : 60 to 90 days).  No interest is charged on the trade 
payables on the outstanding balance.

  The group and company’s trade payables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities are as 
follows:

   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 United States dollar  2,277 2,534 -   -  
 Singapore dollar  493 608 -   -  
 Hong Kong dollar  508 596 -   -  
 New Taiwan dollar  -      233 -   233
 Australian dollar  49 152 -   -  
 New Zealand dollar  -      5 -   -  
 Korean Won  30 40 -   -  
 Rupiah   72 46 -   -  
 Ringgit   -      2 -   -  
 Renminbi  -      33 -   -  
 Peso           4         8 -     -  
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20 otHeR PAYABLes
   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Joint venture (Note 11)  -     -     -      7
 Subsidiaries (Note 12)  -     -     9,232 7,920
 Accrued operating expenses  8,545 9,787   1,876   2,791

    8,545 9,787 11,108 10,718

 Accrued operating expenses comprise mainly amounts outstanding for employee benefits. 

  The group and company’s other payables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities are  
 as follows:
   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 United States dollar  -     173 -      -    
 New Taiwan dollar  -     208 -      208
 Renminbi  -     -    523 270 
 Korean Won        4    -        -          -     

21 FINANCe LeAses
   GRoUP CoMPANY
    Present value  Present value
   Minimum of minimum Minimum of minimum
   lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments
   2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Amounts payable under finance leases:

 Within 1 year 42 128 37 121 42 42 37 37
 In the second to fifth year inclusive 46   88 40   77 46   88 40   77

   88 216 77 198 88 130 77 114
 Less:  Future finance charges (11)  (18)  -    -   (11)  (16)  -    -  

 Present value of lease obligations 77 198 77 198 77 114 77 114
  

 Less:  Amount due for settlement within 12 months
             (shown under current liabilities)   (37) (121)   (37)  (37)
  

 Amount due for settlement after 12 months   40   77   40   77
  

  Certain of the group’s plant and equipment are acquired through finance leases.  The average lease term is 3 years.  For the year 
ended December 31, 2008, the average effective borrowing rate was 5.843% (2007 : 5.64% to 7.95%) per annum.  Interest rates 
are fixed at the contract date, and thus expose the group to fair value interest rate risk.  All leases are on a fixed repayment basis 
and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments.
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21 FINANCe LeAses (Cont’d)

 All lease obligations are denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities.

 The fair values of the group’s lease obligations approximate their carrying amounts.

 The group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets.

22 LoNG-teRM BANK LoANs

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Bank loans  306 1,112

 The borrowings are repayable as follows:
    On demand or within one year  142 796
    In the second year  148 151
    In the third year    16    165

       306 1,112
 Less:  Amount due for settlement within 12
           months (shown under current liabilities)  (142) (796)

 Amount due for settlement after 12 months  164    316

 The group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities.

 The bank loans comprise the following:

 a)  term loan of $306,000 (2007 : $680,000) which bears interest at fixed rates ranging from 5.1% to 8% (2007 : 5.0% to 
8.55%) per annum, secured by a negative pledge on all the assets of a  subsidiary of the joint venture (Note 11) and is 
guaranteed by a related company; and

 b)  an unsecured term loan of $ Nil (2007 : $432,000) which bears interest at a fixed rate of Nil % (2007 : 3.8%) per annum and 
is guaranteed by the company.

  The directors estimate the fair value of the group’s borrowings, by discounting their future cash flows at the market rate, to be as 
follows:

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Bank loans  274 1,019
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23 DeFeRReD tAX LIABILItIes

  The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the group and the company, and movements thereon 
during the current and prior reporting periods:

 GROUP
    Accelerated other
    tax temporary tax
    depreciation differences losses total
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 At January 1, 2008  2,045 (136) (14) 1,895
 Credit to profit and loss for the year  (207) (46) (526) (779)
 Effect of change in tax rate  (9) 4 35 30
 Exchange differences      33 4  (10) 27 

 At December 31, 2008  1,862 (174) (515) 1,173

 COMPANY

 Deferred tax liabilities
     Accelerated
     tax
     depreciation
     $’000

 At January 1, 2008   57
 Charge to profit or loss for the year     78

 At December 31, 2008   135

  Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with the group and company’s accounting policy.  The 
following is the analysis of the components of the net deferred tax liability in the balance sheet:

   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Deferred tax liabilities  1,862 2,045 135 57
 Deferred tax assets    (689)   (150)   -     -  

    1,173 1,895 135   57
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24 sHARe CAPItAL

   GRoUP AND CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
   Number of ordinary shares Amount
    ‘000 ‘000 $’000 $’000

 Issued and paid up:
    At beginning of financial year  233,550 231,018 23,852 23,383
       Issue of shares on exercise of share options       -         2,532     -           469

    At end of financial year  233,550 233,550 23,852 23,852

  Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividend as and when declared 
by the company.

25 ReVeNUe

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Sales of goods  129,856 128,486
 Service income  26,205 28,054
 Scrap sales  1,584 1,301
 Management and consultancy services  153 155
 Rental income  233 105
 Others        - 1

 Total   158,031 158,102

26 otHeR oPeRAtING INCoMe

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Gain on disposal of subsidiary  4 -
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  -   24
 Gain on disposal of associate  20 -  
 Interest income on bank deposits  204 607
 Gain on capital reduction of associate  68 -  
 Others   68   15

    364 646
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27 eMPLoYee BeNeFIts eXPeNse

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 (a) Cost of defined contribution plan included in employee benefits expense  2,319 1,822

   The employees of Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd and its subsidiaries that are located in Singapore, Malaysia and 
People’s Republic of China are members of state-managed retirement benefit plans operated by the government of the 
respective countries.  The company and the subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs 
to these retirement benefit schemes to fund benefits.  The only obligation of the group with respect to these retirement 
benefit plans is to make the specified contributions.

   The employee benefit expense includes a share of the employee benefit expenses of the joint venture through proportionate 
consolidation.

 (b) Compensation of directors and key management personnel

  The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

  Short-term benefits  2,970 3,904
  Post-employment benefits     100    106

    3,070 4,010

   The remuneration of directors is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of 
individuals and market trends.

 (c) Share-based payments

  The company has a Share Option Scheme for all employees and directors of the company.

   The option holder is entitled to subscribe for a specific number of new ordinary shares in the company comprised in the 
option.  The exercise price shall be determined by the Share Option Scheme Committee at its absolute discretion and fixed 
by the Committee, as the price equal to the average of the last dealt price for the company’s share, as determined by 
reference to the Official List published by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), for the last five 
market days immediate preceding the offering date of the option.

   The consideration for the grant of an option is $1.00.  Options granted shall be exercisable during the relevant option 
period commencing after the first anniversary but before the fifth anniversary of the date of the grant.  Options granted 
will lapse when the option holder ceases to be a full-term employee of the company or any company within the group 
subject to certain exceptions at the discretion of the board of directors.
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27 eMPLoYee BeNeFIts eXPeNse (Cont’d)

 (c) Share-based payments (Cont’d)

  Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

   GRoUP AND CoMPANY
   2008 2007
     Weighted  Weighted
     average  average
    Number of exercise Number of exercise
    share options price share options price
     $  $

  Outstanding at the beginning of the year  48,000 0.185 2,604,000 0.185
  Lapsed/Forfeited during the year  (48,000) 0.185 (24,000) 0.185
  Exercised during the year      -       (2,532,000) 0.185
  

  Outstanding at the end of the year      -            48,000 0.185
  

  Exercisable at the end of the year      -            48,000 
  

   All of the outstanding share options have vested as at January 1, 2005, the effective date of FRS 102 Share-based Payments 
and accordingly no expense for share-based payments have been recorded in the financial statements under the transitional 
provisions of FRS 102.

  No share options have been granted in 2007 and 2008.

28 FINANCe Costs

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Interest expense on:
    Bank borrowings  139 73
    Finance leases    47   86

 Total   186 159
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29 PRoFIt BeFoRe tAX

 Profit for the year has been arrived after charging (crediting):
    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Directors’ remuneration:
   -  of the company  1,480 1,971
   -  of the subsidiaries  706   1,073

 Total directors’ remuneration  2,186   3,044

 Directors’ fees:
    Directors of the company  128     128

 Non-audit fees for:
   -  Auditors of the company  39 50
   -  Other auditors  207 438

 Net foreign exchange losses  502 831
 Write-down (Write-back) of inventories  404 (305)
 Allowance for doubtful trade receivables        68       77
 Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment        74      147

 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment:

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  5,204 4,914
 Amortisation of land use rights  18 18
 Amortisation of intangible assets  270 374
 Impairment of goodwill  1,094 582
 Goodwill written off      -             25

 Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment     6,586   5,913

 Loss (Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  21 (24)
 Gain on disposal of assocaite  (20) –
 
 Gain on disposal of subsidiary  (4) –
 Cost of inventories recognised as an expense  76,837 74,654

30 INCoMe tAX eXPeNse
    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Current   1,952 2,036
 Deferred (Note 23)  (453) (239)
 Under (Over) provision in prior years:
    Current tax  (79) (726)
    Deferred (Note 23)  (326) 25
 Effect of change in tax rate  30 (193)

 Income tax expense for the year  1,124    903

  Domestic income tax is calculated at 18% (2007 : 18%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year.  Taxation for other jurisdictions 
is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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30 INCoMe tAX eXPeNse (Cont’d)

 The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

   GRoUP
   2008 2007
    $’000 % $’000 %

 Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 18% (2007 : 18%)  954 18.0 1,555 18.0
 Tax effect of share of results of associates  14   0.3 4   0.0
 Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible
    in determining taxable profit  978 18.4 115  1.3
 Tax-exempt income  (366)  (6.9) (90)  (1.0)
 Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in
    other jurisdiction  (213)  (4.0) (6)  (0.1)
 Tax effect of utilisation of tax credit on foreign tax paid  59  1.1 63  0.7
 Deferred tax benefits not recognised  81  1.5 112  1.3
 Tax effect of utilisation of deferred tax
    benefits not previously recognised  (142) (2.7) (99)  (1.1)
 Effect on deferred tax balances due to the
    change in income tax rate  30 0.6 (193)  (2.2)
 Overprovision in prior years  (405) (7.6) (701)  (8.1)
 Others      134  2.5    143  1.7

 Total income tax expense  1,124 21.2    903 10.5

  In accordance with the tax legislations in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) applicable to foreign investment enterprise, 
certain subsidiaries in the PRC are entitled to exemptions from PRC income tax for two years commencing from their first profit-
making year of operations, after offsetting all unused tax losses carried forward from the previous years, and thereafter, entitled 
to a 50% relief from PRC income tax for the next three years.

  Certain subsidiary companies of the joint venture (Note 11) were granted tax incentives in the form of investment tax allowance 
under the Promotion of Investment Act, 1986 (as amended) and reinvestment allowance under the Income Tax Act, 1967 of 
Malaysia.  As of December 31, 2008, certain subsidiaries of the joint venture have tax exempt income amounting to approximately 
$5,583,000 (RM 13,453,000) [2007 : $5,865,000 (RM 13,453,000)] arising from tax payable on chargeable income waived in 1999 
in accordance with the Income Tax Act, 1999 (as amended), investment tax allowances and reinvestment allowances claimed and 
utilised under Schedule 7A of the Income Tax Act, 1967.  This tax exempt income which is subject to approval by the Malaysian tax 
authorities, is available for the distribution of tax-exempt dividends to the shareholders of the subsidiaries.

  As of December 31, 2008, the joint venture has tax-exempt income amounting to about $996,000 (RM 2,400,000) [2007 : $1,046,000 
(RM 2,400,000)] arising from tax-exempt dividends receivable from one of its subsidiary.

  As of December 31, 2008, a subsidiary of the joint venture has unutilised reinvestment allowances of about $4,885,000 (RM 
11,771,000) [2007 : $4,736,000 (RM 10,862,000)] which if agreed with the tax authorities, are available for offset against future 
taxable income of the subsidiary.
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30 INCoMe tAX eXPeNse (Cont’d)

  Subject to agreement with the Comptroller of Income Tax and compliance with certain conditions of the relevant tax legislations, 
certain subsidiaries have unabsorbed tax losses and capital allowances which are available for set off against future taxable 
income of the respective subsidiaries as follows:

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Tax losses

 At beginning of financial year  1,959 2,068
 Arising in current financial year  2,211 561
 Utilised in current financial year  (757) (678)
 Currency realignment     164        8

 At end of financial year  3,577 1,959

 Temporary differences

 At beginning of financial year  2,820 2,000
 Arising in current year  -     822
 Utilised in current year  (242) -    
 Currency realignment    (136) (2)

 At end of financial year  2,442 2,820

 Deferred tax benefit on above, unrecorded  1,670 1,098

 No deferred tax benefit has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

31 DIVIDeNDs
    GRoUP AND CoMPANY
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 (a) Dividends paid during the year were as follow:

  (i) Final dividends of 0.80 cents (2007 : 0.82 cents) per
      ordinary share less tax in respect of the preceding year  1,868 1,898

  (ii) Special dividends of Nil cents (2007 : 4.3 cents) per
      ordinary share less tax in respect of the preceding year     -     10,042

     1,868 11,940

 (b) Proposed dividends comprise:

  Proposed final dividends of 0.80 cents (2007 : 0.80 cents)
     per ordinary shares less tax  1,868   1,868

  The proposed dividends are subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and have not been included as 
liabilities in the balance sheet.
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32 eARNINGs PeR sHARe 

  The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company is based on 
the following data:

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Earnings

 Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share
    (profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the company)  4,212 7,819

    2008 2007
    ‘000 ‘000

 Number of shares

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of
    basic and diluted earnings per share  233,550 232,209

33 DIsPosAL oF sUBsIDIARY

  The company disposed of its subsidiary, Teckwah Online Shanghai Co., Ltd, during the financial year.  The net book value of the 
subsidiary at disposal was $218. Proceeds from disposal amounted to $4,408.  Accordingly, a gain of $4,190 was recognised on 
disposal of the subsidiary.

34 CoMMItMeNts

   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 (i) Guarantees given to banks and leasing companies
     in respect of credit facilities and finance lease
     obligations of subsidiaries and associates (unsecured)  - 68 45,786 45,965

   The amount of guarantees given by the company relates to facilities granted to the group and the group has not utilised 
these facilities fully.

   GRoUP CoMPANY
    2008 2007 2008 2007
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 (ii) Estimated amounts committed for future capital expenditure
     but not provided for in the financial statements  429 148 39 -
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35 oPeRAtING LeAse ARRANGeMeNts

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Minimum lease payments paid under operating
    leases included in profit and loss statement  9,100 7,536

 At December 31, 2008, the commitments in respect of operating leases with a term of more than one year were as follows:

    GRoUP
    2008 2007
    $’000 $’000

 Within 1 year  2,354 1,718
 In the second to fifth year inclusive  1,497 2,787

 Total excluding the commitments stated in the following paragraphs  3,851 4,505

  The company sold its leasehold property and fittings to a third party in 2004 and the property and fittings were leased back by the 
company for 10 years from August 2004.  Quarterly rent and service charges of $1,366,000 is payable for the first 3 years of the 
lease.  Thereafter, increase in rent and service charges is determined with reference to any increase in the consumer price index 
provided that such increase will not exceed 2.5% of the rent and service charges for the preceding year.

  On July 30, 2007, the company entered into another lease for additional space.  Quarterly rent and service charges of $276,000 
is payable for the first year of the lease.  Thereafter the increase in rental and service charges is determined with reference to 
any increase in the consumer price index provided that such increase will not exceed 2.5% of the rent and service charges for the 
preceding year.

 The company has the option to renew both leases for an additional 5 years at rates to be agreed with the landlord.

36 seGMeNt INFoRMAtIoN

 a) Business segments

  The business of the group is organised into the following business segments:

  i)  Print which includes printing and packaging, digital database management, packaging design and provision of 
value chain services;

  ii)  Non-print which includes third party logistic, return, refurbishment and remarketing services for computer 
equipment;

  iii) Services which includes property management and others.

  The above segments are the basis on which the group reports its primary segment information.

   Segment information includes results and identifiable net assets of the joint venture which are accounted for through 
proportionate accounting.  Total assets by segments are those assets that are used in the operations of each segment.
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36 seGMeNt INFoRMAtIoN (Cont’d)

 a) Business segments (Cont’d)

  Segment information:

  i)  Segment revenue and expense are the operating revenue and expense reported in the group’s profit and loss 
statement that are either directly attributable to a segment or can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a 
segment.

  ii)  Segment assets are employed by a segment in its operating activities and are either directly attributable to the 
segment or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.  Segment assets consist principally of operating 
receivables, inventories and property, plant and equipment net of allowances and provisions.  Segment assets 
exclude investment in associates.

  iii)  Segment liabilities are liabilities of a segment incurred in its operating activities and are either directly attributable 
to the segment or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.  Segment liabilities consist principally of 
accounts payable and accruals. Segment liabilities exclude borrowings from financial institutions and income tax 
liabilities.

  iv)  Segment revenue and expenses include transfers between business segments.  Inter-segment sales are charged for 
at prices which are generally established by reference to similar transactions with third parties.  These transfers are 
eliminated on consolidation.

   Print Non-print services elimination total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
  2008

  ReVeNUe

  External sales 131,086 26,680 265 - 158,031
  Inter-segment sales    6,844   1,278 12,153 (20,275) -

  Total income 137,930 27,958 12,418 (20,275) 158,031

  ResULt

  Segment result 3,255 3,986 1,958 (3,904) 5,295
  Interest income     204
  Other non-operating income     65

  Profit from operations     5,564
  Finance costs     (186)
  Share of results of associate     (79)

  Profit before income tax     5,299
  Income tax      (1,124)

  Profit after income tax       4,175

  otHeR INFoRMAtIoN

  Capital expenditure 2,544 578 333 - 3,455

  Depreciation, amortisation and
  impairment of goodwill 5,653 308 625 - 6,586

  Impairment loss recognised in the profit
  and loss 74 - - - 74
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36 seGMeNt INFoRMAtIoN (Cont’d)

 a) Business segments (Cont’d)

   Print Non-print services elimination total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  2007

  ReVeNUe

  External sales  129,249 28,621 232 -      158,102
  Inter-segment sales    6,625   1,161 14,362 (22,148)      -     

  Total income  135,874 29,782 14,594 (22,148) 158,102

  ResULt

  Segment result  7,171 4,957 390 (4,173) 8,345
  Interest income      607
  Other non-operating income             15

  Profit from operations     8,967
  Finance costs      (159)
  Share of results of associate     (166)

  Profit before income tax     8,642
  Income tax      (903)

  Profit after income tax        7,739

  otHeR INFoRMAtIoN

  Capital expenditure    2,543      511   1,003     -         4,057

  Depreciation and amortisation    5,214      175      524     -         5,913

  Impairment loss recognised in the profit
  and loss        147     -          -          -            147

Notes to FINANCIAL stAteMeNts
December 31, 2008

Page 96  •  Annual Report 2008   •   TeckwAh IndusTRIAl coRpoRATIon lTd



36 seGMeNt INFoRMAtIoN (Cont’d)

 a) Business segments (Cont’d)

   Print Non-print services elimination total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  2008

  BALANCe sHeet

  Assets

  Segment assets  84,680 21,038 9,271 -      114,989
  Interest in associates              34

  Consolidated total assets     115,023

  Liabilities

  Segment liabilities 17,039 3,523 2,249 -      22,811
  Unallocated liabilities         4,639

  Consolidated total liabilities       27,450

  2007

  BALANCe sHeet

  Assets

  Segment assets  84,836 19,573 10,304 -     114,713
  Interest in associates           180

  Consolidated total assets     114,893

  Liabilities

  Segment liabilities 18,406 3,441 3,001 -     24,848
  Unallocated liabilities         5,966

  Consolidated total liabilities       30,814

Notes to FINANCIAL stAteMeNts
December 31, 2008

Teckwah Industrial Corporation Ltd
Company Registration No: 197201105E

  Page 97



36 seGMeNt INFoRMAtIoN (Cont’d)

 b) Geographical segments

   The group operates in nine geographical market segments - Singapore, People’s Republic of China, Indonesia, Malaysia, 
Thailand, Japan, Australia, India and Taiwan. 

   The following table shows the revenue based on the location of operating entities; and the carrying amounts of segment 
assets and additions to property, plant and equipment based on geographical area in which the assets are located:

    Carrying amounts Additions to property,
   Revenue of segment assets plant and equipment  
   2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  Singapore 87,658 90,005 55,014 57,915 1,352 2,414
  People’s Republic of China 41,140 40,621 37,741 34,375 1,762 553
  Indonesia 12,176 11,470 9,623 7,962 80 561
  Malaysia 6,598 6,124 7,099 8,057 150 512
  Thailand 606 931 393 449 3 3
  Japan 842 975 580 617 98 6
  Australia 8,291 7,976 3,635 5,508 10 8
  India 10      -      16         10 -       -    
  Taiwan       710      -            922      -      -        -    

   158,031 158,102 115,023 114,893 3,455 4,057

37 ReCLAssIFICAtIoNs AND CoMPARAtIVe FIGURes

  Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s financial statements to provide more information relating to other 
receivables and prepayments.  As a result, certain line items have been amended on the face of the balance sheet and the related 
notes to the financial statements.  Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to the current year’s presentation.

     2007 Reclassifications 2007
 GRoUP    $’000 $’000 $’000
     (As previously  (Restated)
     reported)

 Assets

 Current assets
 Other receivables and prepayments   4,873 (1,174) 3,699

 Non-current assets
 Other assets      -     1,174 1,174

Notes to FINANCIAL stAteMeNts
December 31, 2008
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In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in 
equity of the company as set out on pages 47 to 98 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group 
and of the company as at December 31, 2008, and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the group and changes in equity of the 
company for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company 
will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Chua Kee Seng Thomas

Ng Nai Ping

March 19, 2009

stAteMeNt oF DIReCtoRs
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stAtIstICs oF sHAReHoLDINGs
AS AT MARCH 9, 2009

NUMBER OF FULLY PAID AND ISSUED SHARES : 233,550,248
CLASS OF SHARES : Ordinary Shares
VOTING	RIGHTS : 1 vote per share

DIstRIBUtIoN oF sHAReHoLDINGs

size of Holdings No. of shareholders % No. of shares % 

1   –   999 3 0.08   1,005   -   

1,000   –  10,000 2,528 69.51 10,236,248 4.38

10,001  –  1,000,000 1,081 29.72 67,418,079 28.87

1,000,001 and above 25 0.69 155,894,916 66.75

TOTAL 3,637 100.00 233,550,248 100.00

tWeNtY LARGest sHAReHoLDeRs

Name No.  of shares % 

1 Chua Seng Tek Holdings Pte Ltd 51,811,980 22.18 
2 Lee Kay Huan Holdings Pte Ltd 26,216,900 11.23 
3 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd          19,854,000 8.50 
4 Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd. 10,988,000 4.70
5 Airjet Auto-Care Pte Ltd 10,000,000 4.28
6 Shirley Kathreyn Yap 5,000,000 2.14
7 Morgan Stanley Asia (Singapore) Securities Pte Ltd 3,800,000 1.63
8 Royal Bank of Canada (Asia) Limited 3,370,000 1.44
9 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 2,670,000 1.14
10 Neo Aik Soo 2,005,000 0.86
11 CIMB-GK Securities Pte. Ltd. 1,876,000 0.80
12 Chua Kee Seng 1,800,000 0.77
13 Rockville Holdings Pte Ltd 1,608,000 0.69
14 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 1,481,000 0.63
15 Ong Wei Jen 1,467,000 0.63
16 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 1,462,000 0.63
17 Chua Kee Teang 1,433,000 0.61
18 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 1,421,000 0.61
19 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 1,253,000 0.54
20 Sim Siew Tin Carol (Shen XiuZhen Carol) 1,102,000 0.47

total: 150,618,880 64.48

The percentage of shareholding held in the hands of the public is approximately 56.61% which is more than 10% of the issued share 
capital of the Company.  Therefore Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited has been 
complied with.
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stAtIstICs oF sHAReHoLDINGs
AS AT MARCH 9, 2009

sUBstANtIAL sHAReHoLDeRs As At MARCH 9, 2009
as recorded in the Company’s Register of Substantial Shareholders

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Name of substantial shareholder No. of shares % No. of shares %

Chua Seng Tek Holdings Pte Ltd 51,811,980 22.18 17,900,000 7.66
Lee Kay Huan Holdings Pte Ltd 26,216,900 11.23 - -

Notes:

1) Chua Seng Tek Holdings Pte Ltd is deemed to have an interest in the 17,900,000 shares held by DBS Nominees Pte Ltd.

2)  Mr Lee Chee Sit and Mr Lee Chee Peck are deemed to have an interest in the 26,216,900 shares which Lee Kay Huan Holdings Pte 
Ltd has an interest in by virtue of the provisions of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.
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NotICe oF ANNUAL GeNeRAL MeetING AND 
NotICe oF BooKs CLosURe DAte

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 25 Pandan Crescent #05-15 TIC Tech Centre 
Singapore 128477 on Wednesday, April 22, 2009 at 9.30 a.m. to transact the following business:

oRDINARY BUsINess

1.  To receive and consider the directors’ report and accounts for the year ended December 31, 2008 and the auditor’s report 
thereon.     (Resolution 1)

2.  To declare a first and final one-tier tax-exempt dividend of 0.8 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year ended December 31, 
2008.    (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association:-
 (i) Mr Ng Nai Ping  (Resolution 3)
 (ii) Mr Lim Lee Meng [See Explanatory Note (a)] (Resolution 4)

4.	 	To	re-appoint	Deloitte	&	Touche	LLP	as	Auditors	for	the	ensuing	year	and	to	authorise	the	Directors	to	fix	their	remuneration.
       (Resolution 5)

5. To approve the proposed Directors’ fees of $128,000 for the year ended December 31, 2008. 
 (2007 : $128,000)   (Resolution 6)

6. To transact any other business of the Company which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

sPeCIAL BUsINess

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions:-

7.   (a)  That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the listing rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited, authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company:-

  (i)  to issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of bonus issue, rights issue or otherwise; and/or

  (ii)  make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively “Instruments”) that might or would require shares to be 
issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or 
other instruments convertible into shares,

   at any time to such persons and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes  as the Directors may, in their 
absolute discretion, deem fit and (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be 
in force) issue shares in pursuance of any instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution is in force, 
provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including shares to be issued 
in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 50% of the total number of 
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time of passing of this Resolution and the 
aggregate number of shares issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders does not exceed 20% of the 
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the Company;

 (b)   for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (a) above, 
the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) shall be based on the total number of issued shares of the 
Company (excluding treasury shares) as at the time of the passing of this Resolution after adjusting for:
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NotICe oF ANNUAL GeNeRAL MeetING AND 
NotICe oF BooKs CLosURe DAte

  (i)  new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities which were issued pursuant to previous 
shareholders’ approval, and which are outstanding as at the date of the passing of this Resolution; 

  (ii)  new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of Share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time 
this Resolution is passed; and

  (iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of the shares; and

 (c)  such authority to continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting or the expiration of the period 
within which the next Annual General Meeting of  the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier, unless 
previously revoked or varied at a general meeting of the Company. [see Explanatory Note (b)] (Resolution 7)

Notice is hereby given that the Transfer Books and Register of Members of the Company will be closed on May 7, 2009 for the preparation 
of dividend warrants.

Duly completed transfers received by the Company’s Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services of 8 Cross Street #11-00 PWC 
Building Singapore 048424, up to the close of business at 5 p.m. on May 6, 2009 will be registered to determine shareholders’ entitlement 
to the proposed dividend. The dividend, if approved, will be paid on May 19, 2009 to shareholders registered in the books of the Company 
on May 7, 2009.

In respect of shares in securities accounts with the Central Depository (Pte) Limited (“CDP”), the said final dividend will be paid by the 
Company to CDP which will in turn distribute the dividend entitlements to holders of shares in accordance with its practice.

By order of the Board

Lo Swee Oi
Company Secretary
April 6, 2009
Singapore

explanatory Notes:

(a)  Mr Lim Lee Meng, if re-elected, will remain as Chairman of the Audit Committee and Member of the Remuneration Committee.  
Mr Lim is considered an Independent Director for purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited.  Full particulars on Mr Lim are set out on page 26 of the Annual Report.

(b)  The proposed ordinary resolution 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the above Meeting until the 
date of the next Annual General Meeting to allot and issue shares and convertible securities in the Company up to an amount not 
exceeding fifty per centum (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, 
of which up to twenty per centum (20%) may be issued other than on a pro rata basis. 

  For the purpose of this resolution, the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) is based on the Company’s total 
number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) at the time that this proposed Ordinary Resolution is passed after adjusting for 
new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities, the exercise of share options or the vesting of share 
awards outstanding or subsisting at the time when this proposed Ordinary Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, 
consolidation or subdivision of shares.
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Notes to Proxy Form:

(i)  A member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead.  A proxy need 
not be a member of the Company.

(ii)  If a proxy is to be appointed, the form must be deposited at the registered office of the Company, 25 Pandan Crescent #05-15 TIC 
Tech Centre Singapore 128477 not less than 48 hours before the meeting.

(iii)  The form of proxy must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing.

(iv)  In the case of joint shareholders, all holders must sign the form of proxy.

NotICe oF ANNUAL GeNeRAL MeetING AND 
NotICe oF BooKs CLosURe DAte
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teCKWAH INDUstRIAL CoRPoRAtIoN LtD
Company Registration No. 197201105E
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

PRoXY FoRM

Important
1.   For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Teckwah shares, 

this Annual Report is sent to them at the request of their CPF Approved 
Nominees solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2.   This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors, and shall be 
ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used 
by them.

3.  CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an observer must 
submit their requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within 
the time frame specified. If they also wish to vote, they must submit 
their voting instructions to the CPF Approved Nominees within the 
time frame specified to enable them to vote on their behalf.

I/We  (Name)

of   (Address)

being a member/members of TECKWAH INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION LTD hereby appoint:-

Name Address NRIC/Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
shareholdings (%)

or failing whom, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf, at the Annual General 
Meeting of the Company to be held on Wednesday, April 22, 2009 at 9.30 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.  

I/We have indicated with an “x” in the appropriate box below how I/we wish my/our proxy/proxies to vote.  If no specific direction as to 
voting is given, my/our proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion, as he/they will on any other matter arising at 
the Meeting.

No. Resolutions For Against

1. Adoption of Directors’ Reports and Accounts

2. Declaration of a final one-tier tax-exempt dividend

3. Re-election of Mr Ng Nai Ping

4. Re-election of Mr Lim Lee Meng

5. Re-appointment of Auditors

6. Approval of Directors’ Fees

7. Authority to issue additional shares pursuant to section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

Dated this  day of  2009.

total No. of shares Held

Signature(s) of Member(s)/Common Seal

IMPoRtANt: PLeAse ReAD Notes oVeRLeAF





Notes

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his stead.

2.  Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his 
holding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

3. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

4.  A member should insert the total number of shares held. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository 
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore), he should insert that number of shares. If the 
member has shares registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert that number of shares. If 
the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and registered in his name in the Register of Members, 
he should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all shares 
held by the member.

5.  The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 25 Pandan Crescent #05-15 
TIC Tech Centre Singapore 128477 not less than 48 hours before the time set for the Meeting.

6.  The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in 
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its 
common seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.

7.  Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a 
duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing 
which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

GeNeRAL

The Company shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions of 
the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the Proxy Form. In addition, in the case of shares 
entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject a Proxy Form if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares 
entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The 
Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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